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CORPORATE 
Highlights

CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

Our Organisation 
The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited was incorporated in 

Fiji by an Act of Parliament in 1972 to take over the milling 

activities with effect from 1st April 1973. It is successor to 

SPSM Limited and CSR Limited. In 2006, the Fiji Sugar 

Corporation Act was repealed allowing to be governed 

solely under the Companies Act.

Our Shareholders
The Government of Fiji is a major shareholder while 

statutory bodies, local companies and individuals own the 

rest of the shares.

Financial Results
•	 Corporation’s share of proceeds was $42.8 million 

compared to $41.9 million in the previous year.

•	 Consolidated trading loss was $16.8 million, compared 

to a loss of $19.8 million in the previous year.

•	  Loss from operations was $19.1 million, compared to 

a profit $40.1 million in the previous year.

•	 Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 

Amortisation (EBITDA) was positive $4.4 million 

compared to positive $60.7 million in the previous 

year.

•	 Operating loss for the year was $32.8 million, compared 

to a profit of $21.9 million in the previous year.

•	 A total of $7.5 million was invested in Property Plant 

and Equipment, compared to $31.1 million in the 

previous year.

Our Business
The Corporation owns and operates three sugar mills 

located at Lautoka, Ba and Labasa. The mills are 

strategically located on the drier side of the two main 

islands where conditions are more suited to growing cane.

The Corporation is responsible for the manufacture and 

sale of raw sugar together with molasses as a by- product. 

The Corporation owns and maintains a railway network 

which transports sugar to the mills. The Corporation is one 

of the largest sector employers with a workforce of around 

1,700 individuals during the peak crushing season.

The Sugar Industry is important to Fiji’s economy as it 

contributes about 1.1% of GDP, generates about 8.9% of 

domestic exports in 2020 based on the provisional data 

from the Reserve Bank of Fiji. Unlike many other export-

oriented businesses, most production inputs are domestic 

and have a high regional impact and cross-sectoral 

linkages.

Operations
•	 A total of 1.73 million tonnes of sugarcane was 	

crushed from an area of 36,734 hectares compared to 

1.81 million tonnes from 37,643 hectares in the previous 

year.

•	 Sugar production was 151,599 tonnes compared to 

168,703 tonnes in the previous year.

•	 Tonnes Cane to Tonnes Sugar (TCTS) ratio was 11.4 

compared to 10.7 in the previous year.

•	 Cane Quality (POCS) was 9.80 compared to 10.24 in the 

previous season. 

•	 The total sugar exported was 124,857 tonnes compared 

to 154,411 tonnes in the previous year.

CORPORATE
Profile

P
ag

e 
2

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1



FINANCIAL 
Summary

									         2021		  2020
Sales and Profit ($’000)		
Total sales	 147,712	 144,896

Trading profit/(loss)	 (16,805)	 (19,824)

Unrealised exchange gain/(loss)	 6,967	 (1,581)

Operating Profit/(loss) for the year	 (32,787)	 21,879

Cash Flow ($’000)		
Operating activities	 2,041	 (44,146)

Investing activities	 (7,225)	  (20,642)

Financing activities	 (4,093)	 63,615

Net increase/(decrease) in cash	 (9,277)	 (1,173)

Financial Position ($’000)		
Working capital	 (222,195)	 (144,418)

Current assets	 43,183	 51,690

Total assets	 199,294	 223,906

Non-current liabilities	 266,667	 327,762

Current liabilities	 265,378	 196,108

Shareholders’ equity	 (332,751)	 (299,964)

Additional Information		

Ratio of current assets to current liabilities	 0.16	 0.26

Ratio of debt to shareholders’ equity	 (1.60)	 (1.75)

CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
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BOARD 
Responsibilities

CORPORATE 
Governance
FSC views corporate governance in widest sense, almost 

like a trusteeship; it is a philosophy to be professed, a 

value to be imbibed and an ideology to be ingrained in our 

corporate culture.

Corporate governance goes much beyond mere 

compliance; it is not a simple matter of creating checks 

and balances. It is in fact a continuous process of realizing 

the Corporation’s objectives with a view to make of every 

opportunity. It involves leveraging its resources and aligning 

its activities to consumer need, shareholder benefit and 

employee growth. Thereby the Corporation succeeds in 

delighting its stakeholders whilst minimizings risks.

The primary objective is to create and adhere to a 

corporate culture of conscientiousness and consciousness, 

transparency and openness. The Corporation aims to 

develop capabilities and identify opportunities that serve 

goals of value creation, thereby creating an outstanding 

organizations.

The Board remains committed to upholding the highest 

standards of integrity and transparency in its governance 

of the Corporation.  The importance and the value of a 

balanced interplay between management, board and 

shareholders within the company remain a major principle 

governing the conduct of the Corporation.

The Corporation aims to be at the forefront of internationally 

recognizeds best governance practice. The Corporation 

complies in all material respects with the generally 

accepted governance principles. Corporate governance, 

as a dynamic interplay of forces, has its own sets of 

challenges and continues to evolve, especially in a small 

country like Fiji.

Central to the Corporation’s sound governance practices 

is the management of relationships and interest of 

its stakeholders. The Corporation embraces these 

challenges through its strategy, people, teamwork, 

leadership, experience and skills, relationships and proper 

identification and control of business risk. In doing so, 

the Board is required to determine sound management 

information and reporting system to the shareholders.

The Board supports a strong disclosure regime 

acknowledging transparency as a key element of an 

effective corporate governance system. This includes 

timely and accurate information to be disclosed on matters 

such as the Corporation’s financial and operating results, 

its objectives, major share ownership and voting rights, 

remuneration for directors and material foreseeable risk 

factors.

In addition to disclosure on commercial objectives, the 

Board encourages disclosure of policies relating to the 

environment and the communities in which the Corporation 

operates. The Board meets regularly and receives full 

information in advance to help it discharge its duties. 

A Director’s Package comprising pertinent background 

information and critical information on major risks, global 

industry trends and future direction of the Corporation is 

made available to all new directors.

The Board also supports the policies, principles and 

standards set out in the Companies Act, the accountancy 

profession and relevant statutory reporting requirements. 

While these do not determine the detailed course of 

conduct by directors, they support the need for the highest 

standards of behavior and accountability. 

P
ag

e 
4

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1



COMPOSITION OF THE 
Board

ROLE OF 
Shareholders

BOARD 
Committees

MANAGEMENT 
Responsibility

The Board aims to bring people of the right calibre with a wide and diverse range of business experience and expertise. There 

are eight directors on the Board, appointed by the shareholders. Board representation also includes key stakeholders. 

The Board ensures that shareholders are fully informed of all major developments affecting the Corporation’s business. 

Information is communicated to shareholders in the Annual Report, special reports and forum. The Board encourages full 

participation of shareholders to ensure a high level of accountability in determination of the Corporation’s direction, strategies 

and goals.

The information presented in this report is prepared by the Corporation’s Management which maintains systems of internal 

accounting controls, policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of the financial records and 

the safeguarding of its assets. Management regularly seeks independent assessment and reviews of its internal accounting 

controls, policies and procedures.

The Board appoints board subcommittees to undertake 
specific functions as required under internationally 
accepted governance practices and on the needs of the 
Corporation. Each Board Committee operates under a 
Charter.

The Finance & Audit Committee, which is a significant 
committee of the Board reviews the financial reporting 
process, the system of internal control and management of 
financial risks, the audit process and the company’s process 
for monitoring compliance with the laws and regulations. 
The members of the Finance & Audit Committee are Mr. 
Pradeep Lal (Chairman), Mr. Savendra P Dayal and Mr. 
Tevita Kuruvakadua.

The Remuneration & Nomination Committee is tasked 
with assisting the Board discharge its responsibilities by 
providing an oversight of the Human Resource strategy 
of the Company including organization structure, 
remuneration policies, performance management, 
succession planning and development and monitoring all 
matters relating to terms and conditions of employment of 
staff and staff remuneration. Its members are Mr. Savendra 
P Dayal (Chairman), Mr. Vishnu Mohan and Mr. Athil Narayan.
The Governance & Risk Committee has been set up to assist 
the Board discharge its responsibilities through oversight of 

the enterprise risk management, control and compliance 
framework established by the Board and management, 
formulation and review of the company’s policies and 
insurance, formulation and review of the governance 
policies, framework and compliance of the Company, 
development and monitoring of codes of conduct and any 
reported breaches of the code of conduct. Its members 
are Mr. Athil Narayan (Chairman), Mr. Vishnu Mohan and Mr. 

Arvind Singh. 

The Property Committee looks after the sale of non-core 
assets to support the cash flow of the Corporation.    Its 
members are Mr Tevita Kuruvakadua (Chairman), Mr 
Savendra P Dayal and Mr Pradeep Lal.

Cane Development Committee was set up to focus on 
improving sugarcane production and grower-related 
services. Its members are Mr Prakash Chand (Chairman), 
Mr Arvind Singh and Mr Tevita Kuruvakadua.

A Sales & Marketing Committee has been set up to look 
after the sugar and molasses for both domestic and            
export. Its members are Savendra P Dayal (Chairman), Mr 
Pradeep Lal and Mr Athil Narayan. 
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BOARD OF 
Directors

PRADEEP LAL

Appointed as Chairman of the Board in May 
2021 and have been with the Board from 
November 2016. Mr Lal is the Regional 
Chief Executive Officer for Vodafone and a 
Chartered Accountant by profession.

TEVITA KURUVAKADUA

Appointed to the Board on 27 
May 2015. A career Accountant, Mr 
Kuruvakadua is the Chief Executive 
Officer for the iTaukei Land Trust 
Board.

ATHIL NARAYAN

Appointed to the Board in 
December 2019. Mr Narayan is the 
Executive GM Airports & Cargo 
Operations, Fiji Airways.

ARVIND SINGH

Appointed to the Board on 27 May 
2015. Mr Singh is a business man 
and sugar cane farmer.

PRAKASH CHAND

Appointed to the Board in July 
2020. Mr Chand is a Managing 
Director of Rotomould  Group of 
Companies.

SAVENDRA DAYAL

Appointed as Deputy Chairman 
to the Board in May 2021 and 
have been with the Board from 
December 2019. Mr Dayal is the 
Managing Director Healthcare 
Products International, Fiji (Johnson 
& Johnson).

RATU WILIAME 
KATONIVERE

Appointed to the Board on 27 May 
2015. Ratu Wiliame is a former Civil 
Servant. He is now a businessman 
and a Director of Fiji Pine Limited and 
Airports Fiji Limited. He resigned in 21 
October 2021.
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
Team

BHAN PRATAP SINGH 
Chief Executive Officer

ASHWIN GOUNDER
Chief Human Resources 

Officer

MANOJ RAM 
Chief Financial Officer/

Company Secretary

SACHIN DEO (Late)
Chief Information &
Commercial Officer

MIKAELE BIUKOTO
 Chief Operating Officer

LEELA RAMESH
General Manager Lautoka 

ILIYAZ KHAN
General Manager Rarawai

MICHAEL FAKTAUFON
General Manager Labasa
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Chairman’s Report 

It is with great pleasure that I present to you the Chairman’s 
Report for the Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited (FSC) for 
the financial year 2021. Despite encountering significant 
challenges, including the global COVID-19 pandemic, a 
decline in the price of world raw sugar, and adverse weather 
conditions, FSC has displayed remarkable resilience in 
fulfilling its mission. Throughout this period, our commitment 
and focus have been steadfastly directed towards the 
well-being of our shareholders, farmers, employees, and 
stakeholders.

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, FSC, like the rest of Fiji, 
felt its disastrous impact. However, by swiftly implementing 
effective containment measures, the country managed to 
limit the spread of the virus. The government recognised 
FSC as an essential business given its importance to the 
economy, enabling it to maintain uninterrupted operations. 
Prioritising the health and safety of our workforce and 
stakeholders, FSC demonstrated its resilience and ability to 
operate under highly restrictive and extremely challenging 
environment through a comprehensive COVID Response 
Plan, which included:

•	 Streamlined Procurement: To effectively manage costs, 
procurement activities were streamlined to focus solely on 
essential items.
•	 Rigorous Maintenance Control: Stricter oversight was 
exercised over maintenance expenses to ensure prudent 
spending.
•	 Workforce Optimization: In response to financial 
pressures, FSC implemented measures to reduce headcount 
and manage wage costs.
•	 Strategic Service Scaling: Non-essential services and 
contracted activities were scaled back to align with the 
evolving business landscape.
Amidst these challenges, the global price of raw sugar 
remained subdued, impacting the pricing determination for 

the season’s sugar. With the world market disrupted by the 
pandemic, FSC, as a price taker, faced lower prices for sugar 
exports.

However, challenges were met with adaptability and growth. 
Though sugar production experienced a marginal decline, 
we leveraged these circumstances as opportunities to 
enhance our financial performance. Through the resilience 
and proactive measures of our team, we navigated 
challenges with optimism, resulting in favourable outcomes 
for the company.

I am pleased to report that FSC achieved noteworthy results 
in the face of adversity. Turnover from sugar and molasses 
grew significantly, reaching $147.7 million. This growth 
underscores our commitment to optimising production 
processes and upholding stringent quality standards. 
Furthermore, diligent operational efficiency and cost 
management measures led to a reduction in trading loss 
to $16.8 million. These achievements are a testament to 
the tenacity and determination of our team in overcoming 
difficulties and pursuing continuous improvement.

In close collaboration with the Board, Management has 
devised a pragmatic action plan aimed at stabilising FSC’s 
liquidity position, boosting cane production, optimising 
mill operations, and managing debts with government 
support. This strategic initiative is designed to transform 
FSC into a self-sustaining corporate entity, reducing reliance 
on government support and laying the groundwork for a 
sustainable future over the next 3-5 years.

The Corporation’s forward plan rests on five key pillars, 
providing a clear and resolute direction:
•	 Balance Sheet Restructure: Strengthening the 
organisation’s financial foundation and stability.
•	 Milling Efficiencies: Minimizing breakdowns and 
optimising operational processes to enhance productivity.
•	 Crop Rehabilitation: Targeted efforts to improve crop 
yield and production.
•	 Cost Reduction/Revenue Optimization: Identifying 
opportunities for cost reduction while maximising revenue 
streams.
•	 Human Resource Management: Ensuring effective 
management of human resources to drive organisational 
success and employee well-being.

These pillars serve as guiding principles, charting the course 
toward achieving our objectives and securing a prosperous 

PRADEEP LAL
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future for the company. With unwavering support from both 
the Board and Management, bolstered by the invaluable 
support of the Government, FSC is committed to propelling 
itself onto a sustainable trajectory. Recognising the pivotal 
role of the Sugar Industry in Fiji’s economic well-being, 
we are steadfast in our mission to forge a successful and 
thriving future for the corporation and the entire nation.

A significant milestone during the financial year was the 
Fijian Government’s acquisition of shares from the Fiji 
National Provident Fund (FNPF) and Fijian Holdings Ltd. This 
acquisition underscores the government’s commitment to 
our growth and long-term sustainability.
FSC remains resolute in fostering collaboration with 
growers, suppliers, customers, and governmental bodies. 
Through collective efforts, we will surmount challenges 
and pave the way for a prosperous future for FSC. With the 

unwavering support of our shareholders and the dedication 
of our employees, we are confident in our ability to realise 
our goals.

In closing, I extend heartfelt gratitude to all stakeholders, 
particularly our dedicated employees, for their unwavering 
support. It is through their dedication that we successfully 
navigated the challenges of the past financial year. We 
eagerly anticipate continued collaboration as we work 
together to build a brighter future for FSC and the entire 
Fijian sugar industry.
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CEO’s 
REPORT

Cane Production
I am pleased to present the CEO’s 2021 annual report 

highlighting the Corporation’s significant developments 

and challenges.

Over the past four years, our cane production has displayed 

an upward trend, showcasing incremental growth. This 

progress reflects the commitment to a targeted extension 

drive to achieve sustainable production levels. However, 

natural disasters have presented challenges amidst 

collective efforts, particularly along the cyclone path.

In the 2020 season, the country encountered the impact of 

Category 1 Tropical  Cyclone (TC) Tino approaching the Fiji 

Figure 1.0 (a graph of 5 years of actual planting against 

annual production) illustrates the planting and production 

trends, showcasing our dedication to continuous 

improvement. 

Group from the North, close to Udu Point. This was followed 

by Category 4 TC Sarai sweeping through the southwest 

of Viti Levu in April. These devastating events resulted in a 

4.3% decline in crop production compared to the previous 

year (the 2019 season).

Additionally, March 2020 saw the emergence of the 

COVID-19 pandemic in Fiji, leading to necessary budgetary 

revisions. Consequently, the Cane Planting Grant 

experienced a downward revision from $4 million to $0.5 

million. There was a 16.5% decrease in planting compared 

to the 2019 season. Nevertheless, the Corporation remains 

steadfast in its commitment to prioritise commercial viability, 

industry competitiveness, and long-term sustainability.

Figure 1.0 Graph of 5 years actual planting against annual production

The government-approved capital programs in the 2020–

2021 budget were strategically designed to leverage 

opportunities to benefit the industry. The company has 

committed to adapting and optimising appropriate 

programs for continued growth and success.  

BHAN PRATAP SINGH 
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Harvesting And Transportation
The pandemic brought about various challenges, including 

the need for redundant employees to seek alternative 

income sources. As a silver lining, this increased workforce 

Despite the challenges posed by the pandemic, the 

harvester fleet increased by two units compared to the 

2019 season. This led to a  0.6% increase in the volume 

of cane mechanically harvested. However, as sugar cane 

The harvester fleet comprises 89 units, contributing 35.5% 

of the cane harvested during the season. The company 

faced additional operational challenges with increased 

The focus remains on driving efficiency, enhancing 

mechanisation, and ensuring a sustainable future for the 

harvesting and transportation aspect of the business. 

The company is committed to exploring new avenues for 

availability for cane harvesting, positively impacting mill 

cane supply and reducing outside stops.

farming shifts to undulating and hilly terrains due to other 

developments, the potential for further mechanisation in 

these areas becomes limited.

burnt cane percentage due to heavily lodged cane in the 

Rakiraki to Nadi cane regions, which TC Sarai impacted.

MECHANICAL 
Harvesting

Table 1: Summary of the Mechanically Harvested Cane for 2020 Season

Mill Region	 Harvesters	 Green Tonnes	  Burnt Cane	   Total Cane		  Average		  % Burnt Cane
	  Available	    Harvested	 Harvested (t)	 Harvested (t)	        Harvest/Harvester                  Harvested

  

Lautoka	 26	 62,229	 118,348	 180,577	 6,945		 65.5

Rarawai	 26	 53,761	 138,355	 192,116	 7,389		 72.0

Labasa	 37	 157,127	 84,154	 241,281	 6,521		 34.9

All Mill Area	 89	 273,117	 340,857	 613,974	 6,898		 55.5

Harvesting Progress by Mechanical Harvesters

Harvesting Summary

Future Outlook

Mill Region		 Total Cane          	     Total Rail Tonnes                            Total Lorry Tonnes		 Cane Crushed 	
		  Crushed		 Crushed	  	  	Crushed		                       Green Cane         	     Burnt Cane

		 Tonnes 	 Tonnes	  %	 Av. Trx  	 Tonnes	 %	 Av. Lorry	 Tonnes	 %	 Tonnes	 %
					                     Weight			          Weight					   
								         
Lautoka	    	505,652	 43,213	 10.0	 2.5	 462,439	 90.0 	 10.9	 357,924	 70.8	    147,728     29.2

Rarawai 	    	552,313	 44,590	 8.0	 2.1	 507,723	 92.0	 10.9	 239,228  	 43.3	 385,529	 56.7

Labasa		    671,316	 111,122	 16.6	 1.9	 560,194	 83.4	 10.2	 435,500	 64.9	 168,355	 35.1

All Mill	 	1,729,281	 198,925	 11.5	 2.2	 1,530,356	 88.5	 10.7	 1,032,652	 59.7	 696,629	 40.3

improvement and leveraging technological advancements 

to thrive in a dynamic industry landscape.
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Lautoka Mill

 The crushing season at Lautoka Mill commenced on July 

10, 2020, and concluded on November 29, 2020, spanning 

20.3 calendar weeks. Despite a delayed start due to a 

problem with the Boiler forced draught fan, Lautoka Mill 

successfully crushed 505,624 tonnes of cane, producing 

40,826 tonnes of sugar, with an average seasonal TCTS 

ratio of 12.4. Additionally, 26,181 tonnes of molasses was 

produced, accounting for 5.2% of molasses on cane. 

99,382 tonnes of cane was transferred from Rarawai Mill to 

Lautoka for processing.

Challenges at Lautoka Mill primarily centred around cane 

quality parameters. The POCS and Cane Purity were 

relatively lower than last year’s actuals, an area of concern 

for the industry. The high percentage of burnt cane, reaching 

62.8%, and other factors contributed to depressed sugar 

recovery and increased losses in molasses. Furthermore, 

the influx of mechanically harvested cane introduced 

extraneous matter, impacting process losses in the Boiling 

House.

To enhance factory operations, two major Capital Projects 

were initiated before the start of the 2020 crushing season:

1.	 Lautoka 200 TPH John Thompson Boiler Repairs: 

Repairs were carried out by the Avant-Garde team from 

India, focusing on specific areas with historical breakdowns. 

These repairs improved the Boiler’s performance and 

minimised chimney emissions.

2.	 Lautoka Bagasse Conveyor Electrics and Controls 

Upgrade: The new upgraded control system provided 

quick troubleshooting and rectification during operation, 

optimising overall efficiency.

Rarawai Mill’s crushing season started on June 23, 2020, 

and concluded on November 30, 2020, lasting 22.9 

calendar weeks. The mill successfully crushed 552,262 

tonnes of cane, yielding 46,291 tonnes of sugar, with an 

average crushing rate of 235.0 tonnes of cane per hour. 

We also crushed 11,881 tonnes of Lautoka Mill’s cane at 

Rarawai Mill.

FACTORY 
Operations

Like Lautoka, Rarawai Mill faced challenges regarding 

cane quality parameters and the high percentage of burnt 

cane, reaching 54.8%. Extraneous matter in mechanically 

harvested cane added to process losses in the Boiling 

House.

To address operational challenges, two major Capital 

Projects were completed at Rarawai Mill before the 2020 

crushing season:

1.	 Rarawai 70T Vacuum Pans 1 and 2 Major Repair Works: 

The repair improved sugar graining size and production.

2.	 Rarawai Turbine 3 Overhaul: The complete overhaul 

ensured optimal performance and efficiency of Turbine

3. Labasa Mill’s crushing season started on June 10, 2020, 

and concluded on December 4, 2020, lasting 25.3 weeks. 

The mill successfully crushed 671,285 tonnes of cane, 

yielding 64,472 tonnes of sugar, with an average crushing 

rate of 244.2 tonnes of cane per hour.

Challenges at Labasa Mill were similar to those of other 

mills, with unfavourable weather conditions, high burnt 

cane percentage (33.9%), and extraneous matter in 

mechanically harvested cane, affecting cane quality and 

processing efficiencies.

To improve operations, two major Capital Jobs were 

executed in Labasa Mill:

1.	 Labasa Power House Bus-tie Transformer: The 

replacement ensured reliable and efficient power supply 

to the mill.

2.	 Labasa Repairs to Rotten/Unsafe Process House and 

Mill Building Steel Structures - Phase 1: Safety-oriented 

repair works were completed in the Process House and 

Mill Building.

Rarawai Mill

Labasa Mill

P
ag

e 
12

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1



2020 Season Key Operating Data for the Mills 
Parameters		  Lautoka		  Rarawai		  Labasa			   TotalAv

Tonnes Cane Crushed	 	 505,624		  552,262		  671,285	 1,729,171

Tonnes Sugar Made	 	   40,826		    46,291		    64,472	 151,589

Tonnes Molasses	 	   26,181		    27,718		    28,868	 82,767

Molasses% Cane	 	         5.2		          5.0		          4.3	 4.8

TCTS	 	       12.4		        11.9		        10.4	 11.4

Inside Stops(hrs/wk)	 	       20.8		        36.9		          4.8	 20.8

Outside Stops(hrs/wk)	 	       22.4		        10.8		        38.9	 24.1

Cleaning & Maintenance(hrs/wk)	 	       18.5		        17.2		        15.8	 17.2

Actual Crushing Time (hrs per wk)	 	     106.7		      102.8		      108.6	 106.0

Crushing Rate(tcph)	 	     233.0		      235.0		      244.2	 712.2

Season Length (calendar weeks)	 	       20.3		        22.9		        25.3	
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2020 Season Cane Quality

The focus remains on cultivating a skilled and motivated 

workforce, enabling us to thrive in the dynamic and 

challenging business landscape.

Succession Management
 The company recognises the importance of Succession 

Planning and nurturing future leaders within the 

organisation. To ensure preparedness for unplanned losses 

of key leaders, management has been actively developing 

qualified pools of candidates for critical positions. During 

the year, the company recruited five Sector Assistants in 

the Agriculture Division and promoted three Tradesmen to 

the role of Trainee Mechanical Engineer. Both groups will 

undergo structured training programs overseen by the 

Extension Services Manager and Chief Engineer. 

Online Recruitment Portal
This year’s significant milestone was successfully 

introducing an online recruitment portal. This system has 

not only reduced time-to-hire but has also improved the 

talent database for future recruitment. Moreover, it served 

as an opportunity to enhance the branding of our the 

Corporation. 

Training & Development - Grants 
Scoring
Continued focus on Learning and Development Strategies 

evidences the commitment to employee development. 

The Grant Score percentage increased significantly with 

the introduction of new training processes. 

Manpower Monitoring & Control
Monthly monitoring of Manning Levels and regular 

discussions with Mill Management have been enforced 

HUMAN CAPITAL 
Management

to prevent unnecessary overtime. As part of the ongoing 

rationalisation exercise, the intake of casual/temporary 

workers has been reduced, ensuring an optimal workforce 

to meet operational needs.

Annual Leave & Long Service 
Utilisation
Introducing a Leave Utilisation Program has encouraged 

employees to utilise their Annual Leave timeously. As a 

result, almost 90% of Annual Leave was used by May 31, 

2020, promoting work-life balance and employee well-

being..

Employment Relations
 The Corporation has implemented a more effective 

Employee Disciplinary Process to ensure efficiency, 

fairness, and natural justice. Recognising the Union as an 

integral part of the business has fostered a consultative 

approach to enhance employee relations.

Human Capital Management strategies have fostered 

a skilled, engaged, resilient workforce. The company 

remains committed to investing in its employees and 

maintaining a positive and collaborative work environment. 

Parameters	 Lautoka	 Rarawai	 Labasa

POCS	 9.27	 9.80	 10.24

Cane Purity	     77.5	 78.7  	 81.5

Fibre in Cane	  11.80	  11.97	 12.36

Burnt Cane Received (%)	  62.8	 57.0	 33.9

FSC’s commitment to cultivating a solid safety culture 

and promoting the well-being of our workforce has been 

unwavering. The Corporation has made significant progress 

in creating a safer and healthier working environment 

through strategic initiatives and proactive measures.

HEALTH & SAFETY  
Safety Culture 
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Health & Wellbeing
Amidst the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, 

the Corporation took swift and comprehensive actions 

to protect the health and well-being of employees. With 

a strong focus on mitigating the spread of COVID-19, 

our Industrial Nurses, in coordination with safety 

representatives, diligently tracked employee records 

and movements to limit potential risks. All appropriate 

precautionary measures were implemented to prevent the 

risk of infection.

FSC continued to promote health and well-being awareness 

throughout the pandemic through an established Health 

and well-being calendar. By sharing informative posters 

and awareness materials via emails and notice boards, 

ensuring that employees remained well-informed and 

supported during these trying times.

Injury Management
Over the past 24 months, the Corporation has successfully 

fostered an improved safety culture by introducing hazard 

risk identification and injury management programs. The 

Corporation is delighted to report a 23% reduction in lost 

time injuries compared to the same period in 2019 and an 

impressive 64% reduction compared to the last financial 

year. These encouraging statistics reflect the effectiveness 

of our behavioural safety initiatives and safe decision-

making practices.

As we move forward, our dedication to health and safety remains resolute. FSC is proud of the progress in creating a safer 

workplace and fostering a culture that values the workforce’s well-being above all else. FSC will continue to innovate, 

invest in people, and strive for excellence in Health & Safety practice.
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QUALITY & ENVIRONMENT  
Environment Management 
Building sustainable environmental conditions and 

ensuring the highest levels of product quality are integral 

to FSC’s commitment to responsible business practices. 

The Corporation’s collaborative approach, involving 

management, employees, and regulatory stakeholders, 

has driven significant progress in these crucial areas.

Environment Management
Creating a sustainable environment remains an ongoing 

priority for the  Corporation. FSC has fostered a tripartite 

partnership involving management, employees, and 

regulatory stakeholders to address environmental hazards 

and reduce risks. As a result, the Corporation has completed 

several projects to mitigate environmental risks.

•	 Flying Soot Emission: The Corporation successfully 

upgraded our Boiler at Lautoka Mill by installing a Dust 

Collector System. This enhancement effectively controls 

emissions, ensuring they remain acceptable, in line with 

FSC’s commitment to environmental stewardship.

•	 Elimination of Wastage through Spillage and Handling: 

The maintenance team played a vital role in rectifying 

major areas identified as sugar and molasses spillage 

sources. Through their diligent efforts and implementation 

of new processes, FSC has significantly reduced wastage, 

promoting efficient and environmentally conscious 

operations.

Risk Management 
The Corporation places immense importance on risk 

management across all aspects of the business, from 

Operations and Business Strategy to Finance, HR, IT, 

OHS/Safety, Quality, and Environment. The commitment 

to safeguarding processes and operations is crucial in 

achieving our strategic business objectives.

Quality and Food Safety Compliance
Ensuring food safety and maintaining the highest product 

quality are foundational principles at the Corporation.FSC 

is dedicated to producing safe, high-quality products that 

meet regulatory requirements and adhere to food safety 

standards and best practices.

Customer Feedback
FSC is delighted to note positive trends in customer 

feedback. Over the past three years, customer complaints 

regarding the quality of sugar supplied to customers 

locally and in Pacific Island Countries have significantly 

reduced. Improved quality control mechanisms, such as 

replacing process screens, installing additional magnets, 

and implementing Good Manufacturing Practices, have 

played a pivotal role in reducing customer complaints by 

an impressive 80% in local and regional markets.

Enhancing Sugar Quality
FSC’s pursuit of excellence is dedicated to further 

elevating the quality of sugar products. To achieve this, 

the Corporation has initiated comprehensive Improvement 

Programs. Additionally, FSC is actively pursuing food 

standard certifications, a testament to its unwavering 

commitment to meeting and exceeding the highest 

industry standards.

 

The Corporation’s dedication to Quality and  Environment 

exemplifies commitment to sustainable practices, 

customer satisfaction, and responsible business conduct. 

The Corporation remains focused on continuous 

improvement, innovation, and regulatory compliance, 

striving to be an industry leader in these critical areas.
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MARKETING
Unlocking 
Possibilities, Together 

Bulk Raw Sugar Export  

The world sugar market experienced significant impacts 

due to the adverse effects of COVID-19 and global 

lockdowns. The sugar shortage in the world market initially 

drove the world sugar price up to 15.2 c/lb in early March 

2020. However, the outbreak’s ripple effects on global 

commodity markets later reversed this trend, leading to a 

retreat in the world sugar market.

A total of 124,857 tonnes of bulk raw sugar was exported 

during the year. The following table summarizes these 

exports:

Total	    124,857

Destination 	 Tonnage (MT)		

United Kingdom                                79,246		

Spain	 30,000		

USA	 15,611	

Direct Consumption Raw Sugar 
Sales to the Domestic Market and 
Pacific Island Countries
Sugar sales to the domestic market amounted to 24,240 

tonnes, with 11,113 tonnes sold in 25kg bags and 13,127 

tonnes sold as retail packs. Furthermore, 4,421 tonnes 

were sold to the Pacific Island Countries and the New 

Zealand market, reflecting a positive trend compared 

to the previous year. Of these, 4,084 tonnes were sold in 

25kg packs, and 337 were sold as retail packs. Notably, our 

major markets for Fiji Sugar in the Pacific Island Countries 

include Samoa, Tonga, and Kiribati. Moreover, sales in the 

New Zealand market started last year after a successful 

Re-branding of the ‘Sugars of Fiji’ product line.

Molasses 
During the year 75,130 tonnes of molasses was exported.

Domestic molasses sales totalled 3,084 MT for the financial 

year, with Paradise Beverages and Rewa Dairy being the 

major buyers.

Sugar Packaging Plant
The Packaging Plant successfully packed 13,600 MT of 

sugar into retail packs of 1kg, 2kg, and 4kg last financial 

year, with the majority sold in the domestic market. Other 

retail-packed sugar markets include Samoa, Vanuatu, and 

New Zealand. The demand for 1kg and 2kg retail packs 

remains high in the Pacific Island Countries, while the New 

Zealand market shows significant demand for 4kg packs. 

As part of FSC’s commitment to excellence, a Continuous 

Improvement Program is underway at the Packaging Plant 

to deliver high-quality products to our valued customers.

Despite the challenges presented by the global landscape, 

the Corporation has demonstrated resilience in sugar 

market operations. The efforts in diversifying exports 

and optimising packaging facilities have been pivotal in 

navigating market fluctuations. FSC remains steadfast in its 

commitment to providing premium-quality products while 

exploring opportunities for growth and innovation in the 

global sugar market.

Bhan Pratap Singh

Chief Executive Officer
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

NNOONN--CCUURRRREENNTT  AASSSSEETTSS  

Prior to the completion of the financial statements of the Corporation, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain 
whether any current or non-current assets were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business their values as 
shown in the accounting records of the Corporation. Where necessary, these assets have been written down or 
adequate allowance has been made to bring the values of such assets to an amount that they might be expected to 
realise. 

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the values 
attributed to current and non-current assets in the Corporation’s financial statements misleading. 

UUNNUUSSUUAALL  TTRRAANNSSAACCTTIIOONNSS 

Other than matters disclosed under significant events and events subsequent to balance date during the year, in the 
opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Corporation during the financial year were not substantially 
affected by any other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, nor has there arisen between the 
end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material unusual nature likely, 
in the opinion of the Directors, to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Corporation in the current 
financial year. 

BBAASSIISS  OOFF  AACCCCOOUUNNTTIINNGG  ––  GGOOIINNGG  CCOONNCCEERRNN  

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that the Corporation will 
continue to receive ongoing support from the Government of Fiji. The Government in its COVID-19 Response Budget 
on 26th March 2020 announced conversion of Government’s loan of $173.8 million into equity.  

Furthermore, the Corporation will pursue increasing the area under cane cultivation, improving productivity, revenue 
optimisation from large scale sugarcane plantations, cost cutting initiatives, sale of non-core assets, power generation 
income and better marketing of Sugars of Fiji for local and regional markets. Further, management plans to invest in 
refurbishing and upgrading the mills to continue to achieve improvements in mill efficiency and mill performance 
together with consistent, improved quantity and quality of cane supply and thereby generate adequate profits and cash 
flows from future operations to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.  

The Directors believe that with the support of the Government, the Corporation will be able to continue in operation 
for at least 12 months from the date of this statement and the classification and carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities as stated in these accounts are appropriate. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded 
asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might become necessary should the Corporation be 
unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

SSIIGGNNIIFFIICCAANNTT  EEVVEENNTTSS  DDUURRIINNGG  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  

Significant events during the year were: 

i) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

For the year ended 31 May 2021, an impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried out by an 
independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard (IAS 36) Impairment of Assets. Based on the independent assessment, 
management and the Directors have carried out an assessment of the recoverable amount of the assets, trend 
of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no further provision for impairment is required.  

The assessed enterprise value of the Corporation’s productive assets continues to exceed the carrying value of 
the Corporation’s core operating assets. Notwithstanding this, no reversal of accumulated impairment losses 
will be considered until the Corporation’s growth is consolidated. 

ii) Change in Shareholding 

During the year, the Government of Fiji acquired Fiji National Provident Fund (FNPF) and Fijian Holdings Ltd 
shares in FSC. 

iii) Czarnikow Group Limited 

During the year, the Corporation borrowed US$15 million (FJD $30.1 million) from Czarnikow Group Limited 
by way of trade finance to meet operational expenditure and grower cane payments. The loan will be repaid 
through the first and second shipments of sugar for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 

 

THE FIJI SUGAR CORPORATION LIMITED 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2021  
 

2 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, the Directors herewith submit the statement of financial position 
of The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited (the “Corporation”) as at 31 May 2021 and the related statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows together with notes thereon for 
the year then ended and report as follows:  
   
DIRECTORS 

The following were Directors of the Corporation at any time during the financial year and up to the date of this report: 

Mr Pradeep Lal - Chairman 
Mr Savendra P Dayal – Deputy Chairman (Retired in December 2022) 
Ratu Wiliame Katonivere (Resigned on 21 October 2021) 
Mr Arvind Singh (Retired in October 2022) 
Mr Tevita Kuruvakadua (Retired in October 2022) 
Mr Athil Narayan (Re-appointed)  
Mr Prakash Chand 
Mr Kaison Chang (Appointed on 4 May 2023) 
Mr Nitya Reddy (Appointed on 4 May 2023) 
Mr Paras Ram Reddy (Appointed on 4 May 2023) 
Mr Maciusela N. Lumelume (Appointed on 4 May 2023) 
Ratu Jone Mataove Qomate (Appointed on 31 January 2023) 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The Corporation operated three sugar mills in the year under review and is involved in the milling of sugarcane, manufacture 
and sale of sugar and molasses produced. There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the 
financial year. 

 
RESULTS 

The results of the Corporation are summarized below: 
 

   2021 2020 

   $000 $000 

(Loss)/profit from operations   (19,080) 40,065 

Finance cost, net   (13,707) (16,605) 

Unrealised exchange loss, net   - (1,581) 

(Loss)/profit for the year   (32,787) 21,879 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA)   4,439 60,728 
 
DIVIDENDS 

The Directors recommend that no dividends be declared for the year ended 31 May 2021. 

RESERVES 

The Directors recommend that no transfer be made to or from reserves except for movements required under International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 

Prior to the completion of the Corporation's financial statements, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that action 
has been taken in relation to writing-off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful debts. In the opinion of the 
Directors, adequate allowance has been made for doubtful debts.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
SSIIGGNNIIFFIICCAANNTT  EEVVEENNTTSS  DDUURRIINNGG  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

iv) Impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak on the Corporation 

During the financial year, on 19 April 2021, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government 
announced a number of measures including lockdown of certain containment areas within Viti Levu. 
Under the lockdown restrictions, all non-essential businesses were required to be closed unless the 
workplace was deemed part of a permitted industry as set out by the Government. The introduction of 
these restrictions has not had a material effect on the Corporation’s Financial Statements at 31 May 
2021. Apart from the exception above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of 
the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Corporation, the results or cash flows of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation in 
future financial years. 

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak has developed rapidly, bringing a significant health impact 
globally. Measures taken to contain the virus are already having a significant impact on global markets 
and economic activity. Fiji is also feeling the impact with business disruption and levels of activity already 
reducing in several market sectors. The Corporation has remained operational since this declaration and 
continues to engage in its principal activities. We have not seen a significant impact on our business to 
date. Directors and management are carefully considering the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the 
Corporation and assessing future operational options. The future financial impacts, however, cannot be 
reasonably estimated at this time, as they will be largely the product of matters the Corporation cannot 
control. The Directors and management believe the Corporation have sufficient financial resources 
together with arrangements with their customers and suppliers at this time to be able to successfully 
manage their business risks despite the current uncertain economic outlook due to the COVID-19 
outbreak. 

v) Effects of Tropical Cyclone 

 Fiji was hit by spate of natural disasters during the financial year; Tropical Cyclone Yasa in December 2020 and 
Tropical Cyclone Ana and Bina in January 2021 which severely affected certain parts of Fiji. As a consequence, 
the sugarcane crop, railway infrastructure, bridges and buildings were significantly affected. Furthermore, the 
Corporation’s preparation for the 2021 crushing season was disrupted. 

 

EEVVEENNTTSS  SSUUBBSSEEQQUUEENNTT  TTOO  BBAALLAANNCCEE  DDAATTEE  

Subsequent to year-end, FCCC has approved increase in the domestic sugar price which will improve FSC’s share of 
revenue going forward.  

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Corporation, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Corporation in future financial years.  

OOTTHHEERR  CCIIRRCCUUMMSSTTAANNCCEESS  

As at the date of this report:  

i) no charge on the assets of the Corporation has been given since the end of the financial year to secure the 
liabilities of any other person; 

ii) no contingent liabilities have arisen since the end of the financial year for which the Corporation could become 
liable; and 

iii) no contingent liabilities or other liabilities of the Corporation has become or are likely to become enforceable 
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will 
or may substantially affect the ability of the Corporation to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.  

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen, not otherwise dealt 
with in this report which would make adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the 
Corporation misleading or inappropriate. 

DDIIRREECCTTOORRSS’’  BBEENNEEFFIITTSS  

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 
(other than a benefit disclosed in the financial statements and/ or included in the aggregate amount of 
emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors shown in the financial statements.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

21 Enamanu Road
Nadi Fiji
PO Box 10812 Nadi Airport Fiji

 Tel: +679 666 2433
Fax: +679 666 7282
ey.com

Auditor’s Independence Declarat ion to the Directors of The Fiji Sugar Corporat ion Limited

As lead auditor for the audit  of The Fiji Sugar Corporat ion Limited for the financial year ended 31
May 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Companies Act 2015 in
relat ion to the audit ; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relat ion to the audit .

This declarat ion is in respect of The Fiji Sugar Corporat ion Limited during the year.

Ernst  & Young
Chartered Accountants

Shaneel Nandan 
Partner
Nadi, Fiji 
18 May 2023
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

21 Enamanu Road 
Nadi, Fiji  
P O Box 10812 Nadi Airport Fiji 

 Tel: +679 666 2433 
Fax: +679 666 7282 
ey.com 

 

 
 
 
Independent Auditor's Report 
 
To the Shareholders of The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited (“the Corporation”) which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 May 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Corporation 
as at 31 May 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis for opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountant’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Fiji and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 

We draw attention to Note 2.1(a) in the financial statements, which refers to the preparation of the Corporation's accounts 
on a going concern basis.  As explained in Note 25, the Corporation incurred a net loss of $32.8 million during the year 
ended 31 May 2021, and as of that date, the Corporation's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $222.2 
million. In addition, the Government guarantee of $332 million expired on 31 May 2022 and the Corporation is likely to 
require further funding to meet its future cashflow needs.   
 
The appropriateness of the going concern assumption on which the financial statements are prepared is critically 
dependent on the Government’s support to the Corporation, as disclosed in Note 25. 
 
As stated in Note 25 these events or conditions, along with other matters explained in Notes 2.1(a), 25 and 26, indicate 
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Information  
 

The management and Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises directors 
report but does not include the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based upon the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.   
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued) 
 

Responsibilities of the management and those charged with governance for the Financial Statements 
 

The management and Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the management and Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the management and Directors are responsible for assessing the Corporation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the management and Directors either intend to liquidate the Corporation or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud and error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate  to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s and Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures, are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

9 

P
ag

e 
26

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1



 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
 

 
 
 
Independent Auditor's Report (continued) 
 

Responsibilities of the management and those charged with governance for the Financial Statements 
 

The management and Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the management and Directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the management and Directors are responsible for assessing the Corporation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the management and Directors either intend to liquidate the Corporation or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud and error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate  to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s and Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures, are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued) 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2015 in all material respects, and; 
 
a) we have been given all information, explanations and assistance necessary for the conduct of the audit; and 

 
 

b) the Corporation has kept financial records sufficient to enable the financial statements to be prepared and audited. 
 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
Shaneel Nandan 
Partner
Nadi, Fiji 
18 May 2023
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
  
   
 
  

 Notes  2021 2020 

   $000 $000 

Revenue from export, sugar and molasses 7.1  115,007 104,793 

Revenue from local, sugar and molasses 7.1  32,705 40,103 

Revenue   147,712 144,896 

Cost of sales 8.1  (164,517) (164,720) 

Gross loss   (16,805) (19,824) 

Other operating income 7.2  12,656 80,495 

Administrative expenses 8.2  (14,931) (20,606) 

(Loss)/profit from operations   (19,080) 40,065 

Finance costs 8.3  (13,727) (16,612) 

Finance income 8.4  20 7 

Other expenses 8.5  - (1,581) 

(Loss)/profit bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx      ((3322,,778877))  2211,,887799  

Income tax expense 9(a)  - - 

(Loss)/profit ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr      ((3322,,778877))  2211,,887799  

Other comprehensive income   - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (32,787) 2211,,887799  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
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The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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12 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AASS  AATT  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  

  NNootteess    22002211    22002200    

   $000 $000 

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss     

Property, plant and equipment 10  148,567 159,184 

Intangible assets 11  2,248 2,567 

Right-of-use assets 12(a)  3,324 3,654 

Inventories 14  1,972 2,460 

   156,111 167,865 

CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss     

Current tax assets 9(b)  481 479 

Investment in associates and joint venture 13(a)  40 40 

Inventories 14  6,454 17,925 

Trade and other receivables 15  30,125 31,049 

Cash and cash equivalents 16  6,083 2,197 

   43,183 51,690 

Assets held for sale 10(g)  - 4,351 

TToottaall  aasssseettss      119999,,229944  222233,,990066  

EEqquuiittyy  aanndd  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess     

Equity     

Share capital 17  22,200 22,200 

Accumulated losses   (354,951) (322,164) 

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  ddeeffiicciitt      ((333322,,775511))  ((229999,,996644))  

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess     

Lease liabilities 12(b)  2,870 3,144 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 18  221,295 281,020 

Deferred income 19  40,956 42,145 

Employee benefit liability  20  1,546 1,453 

   266,667 327,762 

CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess     

Lease liabilities  12(b)  584 584 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 18  197,849 124,183 

Employee benefit liability 20  1,011 1,019 

Provisions  21  3,469 2,669 

Trade and other payables 22  62,465 67,653 

   265,378 196,108 

TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess      553322,,004455  552233,,887700  

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess    119999,,229944  222233,,990066  

 
 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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13 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
 
 
 

 NNoottee    22002211  22002200  

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  lloosssseess    $000 $000 

Balance at the beginning of the year   (322,164) (344,043) 

Operating (loss)/profit after tax   (32,787) 21,879 

Balance at the end of the year   (354,951) (322,164) 

SShhaarree  ccaappiittaall      

Balance at the beginning of the year   22,200 22,200 

Balance at the end of the year 17  22,200 22,200 

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy    ((333322,,775511))  ((229999,,996644))  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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14 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
 
 
 

 NNoottee    22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 
OOppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess      

Receipts from customers and other operating activities   152,372 140,466 

Payments to suppliers, employees and other operating activities   (142,164) (168,007) 

Cash from / (used in) operations   10,208 (27,541) 

Interest paid   (7,904) (16,311) 

Interest income received    20 7 

Lease finance costs   (283) (301) 

NNeett  ccaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  //  ((uusseedd  iinn))  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess      22,,004411  ((4444,,114466))  

IInnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (7,528) (31,141) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   338 10,499 

Purchase of intangibles   (35) - 

NNeett  ccaasshh  fflloowwss  ((uusseedd  iinn))  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess      ((77,,222255))  ((2200,,664422))  

FFiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess     

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities   (276) (283) 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings   25,000 28,782 

Proceeds from deferred revenue – financing component   37,016 47,478 

Repayment of borrowings   (65,833) (12,362) 

NNeett  ccaasshh  fflloowwss  ((uusseedd  iinn))  //  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  , ((44,,009933))  6633,,661155  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (9,277) (1,173) 

Overdraft held at the beginning of the year   (18,997) (17,824) 

OOvveerrddrraafftt  hheelldd  aatt  tthhee  eenndd  ooff  tthhee  yyeeaarr  16  ((2288,,227744))  ((1188,,999977))  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the statement of cash flows.  
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11.. CCoorrppoorraattee  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

The financial statements of The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited (the “Corporation”) for the year ended 31 May 
2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 18th May 2023. The 
Corporation is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Fiji. The address of its registered office 
and principal place of business is at Drasa Avenue, Balawa, Lautoka. 

The Corporation is principally operating three sugar mills in the year under review and is involved in the milling 
of sugarcane, manufacture and sale of sugar and molasses produced. There were no significant changes in the 
nature of these activities during the financial year. 

22.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  

22..11.. BBaassiiss  ooff  pprreeppaarraattiioonn  

The financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Cost is 
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. The financial statements are 
presented in Fijian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($000), except when otherwise 
indicated. 

The financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period.  

In the application of IFRS, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgments made 
by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates 
with a significant risk of material adjustments in the future periods are disclosed, where applicable, in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
critical to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported. 

aa.. BBaassiiss  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ––  ggooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that the Corporation 
will continue to receive ongoing support from the Government of Fiji. The Government in its COVID-19 Response 
Budget on 26th March 2020 announced conversion of Government’s loan of $173.8 million into equity. In 2017, 
the Government of Fiji increased the Government guarantee to $322 million.  

Furthermore, the Corporation will pursue increasing the area under cane cultivation, improving productivity, 
revenue optimisation from large scale sugarcane plantations, cost cutting initiatives, sale of non-core assets, 
power generation income and better marketing of Sugars of Fiji for local and regional markets. Further, 
management plans to invest in refurbishing and upgrading the mills to continue to achieve improvements in mill 
efficiency and mill performance together with consistent, improved quantity and quality of cane supply and 
thereby generate adequate profits and cash flows from future operations to meet its obligations as and when 
they fall due.  

The Directors believe that with the support of the Government, the Corporation will be able to continue in 
operation for at least 12 months from the date of this statement and the classification and carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities as stated in these accounts are appropriate. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of 
recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might become necessary should the 
Corporation be unable to continue as a going concern. 
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revenue optimisation from large scale sugarcane plantations, cost cutting initiatives, sale of non-core assets, 
power generation income and better marketing of Sugars of Fiji for local and regional markets. Further, 
management plans to invest in refurbishing and upgrading the mills to continue to achieve improvements in mill 
efficiency and mill performance together with consistent, improved quantity and quality of cane supply and 
thereby generate adequate profits and cash flows from future operations to meet its obligations as and when 
they fall due.  

The Directors believe that with the support of the Government, the Corporation will be able to continue in 
operation for at least 12 months from the date of this statement and the classification and carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities as stated in these accounts are appropriate. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of 
recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might become necessary should the 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

aa)) IInnvveessttmmeenntt  iinn  aassssoocciiaatteess  aanndd  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  

An associate is an entity over which the Corporation has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 
over those policies. 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of 
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. 

The Corporation’s investment in its associate and joint venture are not accounted for using the equity method. 
Information on investment in associates and joint ventures is provided in Note 13. 

bb)) RReevveennuuee  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  

The Corporation is in the business of harvesting and processing sugarcane into sugar and molasses as well as 
sale of power. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to 
the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Corporation expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods. The Corporation has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue 
arrangements. For revenue where contract with customers exists, revenue is recognised as follows: 

Sale of sugar and molasses 

Revenue from sale of sugar and molasses is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is 
transferred to the customer, generally revenue is recognised when sugar is loaded on board of a vessel 
designated for delivery, being Bill of Lading (BOL) date in line with the “Free on Board”. The normal credit term 
is 30 to 90 days upon delivery. 

Sale of electricity 

Revenue from sale of electricity is recognised over time by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction 
of its performance obligation to deliver electricity. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery. 

The Corporation considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance 
obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price 
for the sale of sugar, the Corporation considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant 
financing components, noncash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). 

Finance income   

Finance income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

cc)) GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss  

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Corporation will comply with 
the conditions attached to them and that the grants will be received. 

The benefit of a Government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a Government grant, measured 
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest 
rates. 

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are 
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected 
useful life of the related asset. 

Other Government grants are recognized as revenue over the periods necessary to match them with the costs 
for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support 
to the Corporation with no future related cost are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they become 
receivable. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

dd)) TTaaxxeess  

Income tax 

Current tax 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
statement of financial position date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.  

Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, 
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax is settled.  

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences and the eligible tax losses can be utilised. 

Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement 
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
Information on recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities is provided in Note 9. 

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax (VAT), except: 

i) where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or  

ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of VAT. 

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the statement of financial position. The VAT component of cash flows arising from operating and 
investing activities which is recoverable from or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash 
flows.  

ee)) FFoorreeiiggnn  ccuurrrreenncciieess  

Functional and presentation currency 

The Corporation operates in Fiji and hence its financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars, which is the 
Corporation’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Fijian currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as at the year-end are stated at fair values and any gains or 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

dd)) TTaaxxeess  

Income tax 

Current tax 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
statement of financial position date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
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Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, 
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
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available against which the temporary differences and the eligible tax losses can be utilised. 
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comprehensive income, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement 
of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
Information on recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities is provided in Note 9. 

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax (VAT), except: 

i) where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or  

ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of VAT. 

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the statement of financial position. The VAT component of cash flows arising from operating and 
investing activities which is recoverable from or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash 
flows.  

ee)) FFoorreeiiggnn  ccuurrrreenncciieess  

Functional and presentation currency 

The Corporation operates in Fiji and hence its financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars, which is the 
Corporation’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Fijian currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as at the year-end are stated at fair values and any gains or 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

ff)) NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss  hheelldd  ffoorr  ssaallee  aanndd  ddiissccoonnttiinnuueedd  ooppeerraattiioonnss  

The Corporation classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding 
finance costs and income tax expense. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should 
indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. 
Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year 
from the date of the classification.   

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.  

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial 
position. 

gg)) PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is de-recognised.  

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Cost of leasehold land includes initial premium payment or price paid to acquire leasehold land including acquisition 
costs. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

• Leasehold land (included in Right-of-use)  Term of lease 

• Buildings and improvements   2% to 10% 

• Plant, machinery and equipment   3% to 25% 

• Vehicles and transport systems   5% and 20% 

• ERP system                   10% 

New assets are depreciated from the commencement of the year in which they are commissioned. The assets’ residual 
values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.  

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  

Profits and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are taken into 
account in determining the results for the year. 

Capital works in progress principally relates to costs and expenses incurred for capital works in the nature of property, 
plant and equipment. Capital work in progress is stated at historical cost and is not depreciated. 

Interest and other incidental costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are 
capitalized, during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.   

Costs incurred for capital work in progress are capitalized and are assessed by management and Directors on a periodic 
basis for its viability and successful implementation. The capitalized cost is written-off if the project development is 
abandoned permanently. 

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the 
asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance 
of the existing asset will flow to the Corporation. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of 
the related asset. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

hh)) LLeeaasseess  

The Corporation assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Corporation as a lessee 

The Corporation applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Corporation recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

i) Right-of-use assets 

The Corporation recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows: 

• Leasehold land    99 years     

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Corporation at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

ii) Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Corporation recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Corporation and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Corporation exercising the option 
to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses 
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Corporation uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

ii) Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 

The Corporation applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). 
It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are 
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Corporation as a lessor 

Leases in which the Corporation does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
due to its operating nature.  

ii)) BBoorrrroowwiinngg  ccoossttss  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their use or sale, are capitalized as 
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

ff)) NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss  hheelldd  ffoorr  ssaallee  aanndd  ddiissccoonnttiinnuueedd  ooppeerraattiioonnss  

The Corporation classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding 
finance costs and income tax expense. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should 
indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. 
Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed within one year 
from the date of the classification.   

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.  

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial 
position. 

gg)) PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is de-recognised.  

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Cost of leasehold land includes initial premium payment or price paid to acquire leasehold land including acquisition 
costs. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  

• Leasehold land (included in Right-of-use)  Term of lease 

• Buildings and improvements   2% to 10% 

• Plant, machinery and equipment   3% to 25% 

• Vehicles and transport systems   5% and 20% 

• ERP system                   10% 

New assets are depreciated from the commencement of the year in which they are commissioned. The assets’ residual 
values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.  

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  

Profits and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are taken into 
account in determining the results for the year. 

Capital works in progress principally relates to costs and expenses incurred for capital works in the nature of property, 
plant and equipment. Capital work in progress is stated at historical cost and is not depreciated. 

Interest and other incidental costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are 
capitalized, during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.   

Costs incurred for capital work in progress are capitalized and are assessed by management and Directors on a periodic 
basis for its viability and successful implementation. The capitalized cost is written-off if the project development is 
abandoned permanently. 

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the 
asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance 
of the existing asset will flow to the Corporation. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of 
the related asset. 
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hh)) LLeeaasseess  

The Corporation assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Corporation as a lessee 

The Corporation applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Corporation recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

i) Right-of-use assets 

The Corporation recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows: 

• Leasehold land    99 years     

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Corporation at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

ii) Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Corporation recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also 
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Corporation and 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Corporation exercising the option 
to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses 
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Corporation uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

ii) Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 

The Corporation applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). 
It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are 
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Corporation as a lessor 

Leases in which the Corporation does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over 
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
due to its operating nature.  

ii)) BBoorrrroowwiinngg  ccoossttss  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their use or sale, are capitalized as 
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
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jj)) IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets. 

k) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

i) Financial assets  

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial 
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
irrespective of the business model. 

The Corporation’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 
derecognition (equity instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. 

The Corporation’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables, loan to an associate and loan to 
a Director included under other non-current financial assets. 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

The Corporation measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual 
cash flows and selling; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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kk)) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment 
losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income computed 
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are 
recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit 
or loss. 

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) 

Upon initial recognition, the Corporation can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 
income in the statement of profit or loss other comprehensive income when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Corporation benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the 
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through 
OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with 
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated 
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an 
accounting mismatch. 

Derecognition  

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Corporation of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Corporation’s statement of financial position) when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• The Corporation has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Corporation has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Corporation has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Corporation recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Corporation expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

ii) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings and payables. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Corporation’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank 
overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments. 
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jj)) IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets. 

k) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

i) Financial assets  

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs 
to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount 
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial 
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
irrespective of the business model. 

The Corporation’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the 
Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 

• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 
derecognition (equity instruments) 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. 

The Corporation’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables, loan to an associate and loan to 
a Director included under other non-current financial assets. 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

The Corporation measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual 
cash flows and selling; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

kk)) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment 
losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income computed 
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are 
recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit 
or loss. 

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) 

Upon initial recognition, the Corporation can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 
income in the statement of profit or loss other comprehensive income when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Corporation benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the 
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through 
OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with 
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated 
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an 
accounting mismatch. 

Derecognition  

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Corporation of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Corporation’s statement of financial position) when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• The Corporation has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Corporation has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Corporation has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Corporation recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Corporation expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

ii) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings and payables. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Corporation’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank 
overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments. 

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1
P

ag
e 

39



TTHHEE  FFIIJJII  SSUUGGAARR  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN  LLIIMMIITTEEDD  
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  TTHHEE  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS    
                                                                                

22 

22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

kk)) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 
near term.  

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Corporation has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (loans and borrowings) 

This is the category most relevant to the Corporation. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit 
or loss.   

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information, refer to Note 
18. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

ll)) IInnvveennttoorriieess 

Sugar and molasses are valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by 
approved selling prices, contracts or free market prices and is net of expected related marketing, selling and 
distribution costs. 

Spares are stated at cost. Costs are assigned to spares using the weighted average basis and comprise all costs 
incurred in bringing the stocks to their present location and condition. Allowances for spare parts inventory 
obsolescence are raised based on a review of inventories, and aging of inventories. Inventories considered 
obsolete or un-serviceable are written off or brought down to their estimated fair value in the year in which they 
are identified. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

mm)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  ooff  nnoonn--ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss 

At each balance date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

nn)) CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, cash in banks and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are stated net of bank 
overdraft. Bank overdrafts are shown within interest bearing borrowing in current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position. 

oo)) RReecceeiivvaabblleess  

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment (see Note 2.2 k(i)). An allowance for impairment of 
trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.   

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that a specific debtor balance is 
impaired. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within administration and 
operating expenses.  

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

pp)) PPaayyaabblleess  aanndd  aaccccrruuaallss  

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Corporation becomes obliged to make 
future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.  

qq)) BBoorrrroowwiinnggss    

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Corporation has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

kk)) FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  ––  iinniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 
near term.  

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Corporation has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (loans and borrowings) 

This is the category most relevant to the Corporation. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit 
or loss.   

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information, refer to Note 
18. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

ll)) IInnvveennttoorriieess 

Sugar and molasses are valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by 
approved selling prices, contracts or free market prices and is net of expected related marketing, selling and 
distribution costs. 

Spares are stated at cost. Costs are assigned to spares using the weighted average basis and comprise all costs 
incurred in bringing the stocks to their present location and condition. Allowances for spare parts inventory 
obsolescence are raised based on a review of inventories, and aging of inventories. Inventories considered 
obsolete or un-serviceable are written off or brought down to their estimated fair value in the year in which they 
are identified. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

mm)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  ooff  nnoonn--ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss 

At each balance date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

nn)) CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, cash in banks and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are stated net of bank 
overdraft. Bank overdrafts are shown within interest bearing borrowing in current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position. 

oo)) RReecceeiivvaabblleess  

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment (see Note 2.2 k(i)). An allowance for impairment of 
trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.   

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that a specific debtor balance is 
impaired. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within administration and 
operating expenses.  

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

pp)) PPaayyaabblleess  aanndd  aaccccrruuaallss  

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Corporation becomes obliged to make 
future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.  

qq)) BBoorrrroowwiinnggss    

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Corporation has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

rr)) EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss 

Wages and salaries 

Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are accrued up 
to the reporting date. 

Annual leave and sick leave 

The liability for annual leave and sick leave are recognized in the provision for employee benefits. These benefits 
are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of the settlement. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.  

Termination benefits 

The Corporation recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal; or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made for redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the statement of financial position date are disclosed at the present value. 

Defined contribution plans 

Contributions to Fiji National Provident Fund are expensed when incurred. 

ss)) PPrroovviissiioonnss 

Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received, and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

tt)) SShhaarree  ccaappiittaall  

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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33.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  jjuuddggeemmeennttss  eessttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  

The preparation of the Corporation’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future periods.  

Other disclosures relating to the Corporation’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes:  

• Financial instruments risk management and policies          Note 5  

• Sensitivity analysis disclosures                                               Note 5  

• Capital management                                                                Note 6 

JJuuddggeemmeennttss  

In the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:  

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Corporation as lessee 

The Corporation determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered  by 
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

EEssttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are described below. 

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The Corporation assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of all property, plant and equipment 
at each reporting date. Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment and when there are indicators 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, reasonable allowance for impairment are created.  

For the year ended 31 May 2021, an impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried out by an 
independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets 
has been determined on the basis of their value in use.  The value in use has been determined based on 
discounted cash flow assessment covering 10 years from 2022 to 2031 based on a scenario with cane volumes 
of 1.4 million tonnes for 2022 and increasing to 2.8 million tonnes by 2026. The discount rate of 10.0% has 
been used in measuring value in use. In making financial forecasts, executive management has relied on 
technical experts wherever deemed appropriate, including the areas of engineering and marketing aspects of 
operations. 

Based on the independent assessment, management and Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no further 
provision for impairment is required.  

Whilst the future cash flow is dependent on key variables and some of the critical variables such as sugar price, 
exchange rate, cane volumes and POCS (pure obtainable cane sugar) ratio, these are outside the control of the 
Corporation. Furthermore, variables such as mill uptime (including its impact on TCTS), crushing rate, level of 
operating costs and mill stoppages are critically dependent on the performance and efficiency of the mill. 

Executive management and Directors’ assessment of cash flow forecast involves making a judgment, at the 
particular point in time, about inherently uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. Accordingly, 
subsequent events may result in outcomes that are significantly different from assessment. 

(b) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

In relation to acquired property, plant and equipment, the executive management apply judgment to determine 
the depreciation period based on the expected useful lives of the respective assets. Where estimated useful lives 
or recoverable values have diminished due to technological change or market conditions, depreciation is 
accelerated. 

The executive management’s assessment of useful lives or recoverable amount involves making a judgment, at 
the particular point in time, about inherent uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. Accordingly, 
subsequent events may result in outcomes that are significantly different from assessment. 
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22..22.. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

rr)) EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss 

Wages and salaries 

Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are accrued up 
to the reporting date. 

Annual leave and sick leave 

The liability for annual leave and sick leave are recognized in the provision for employee benefits. These benefits 
are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of the settlement. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.  

Termination benefits 

The Corporation recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal; or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made for redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the statement of financial position date are disclosed at the present value. 

Defined contribution plans 

Contributions to Fiji National Provident Fund are expensed when incurred. 

ss)) PPrroovviissiioonnss 

Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received, and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

tt)) SShhaarree  ccaappiittaall  

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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33.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  jjuuddggeemmeennttss  eessttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  

The preparation of the Corporation’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future periods.  

Other disclosures relating to the Corporation’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes:  

• Financial instruments risk management and policies          Note 5  

• Sensitivity analysis disclosures                                               Note 5  

• Capital management                                                                Note 6 

JJuuddggeemmeennttss  

In the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:  

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Corporation as lessee 

The Corporation determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered  by 
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

EEssttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are described below. 

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The Corporation assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of all property, plant and equipment 
at each reporting date. Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment and when there are indicators 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, reasonable allowance for impairment are created.  

For the year ended 31 May 2021, an impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried out by an 
independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets 
has been determined on the basis of their value in use.  The value in use has been determined based on 
discounted cash flow assessment covering 10 years from 2022 to 2031 based on a scenario with cane volumes 
of 1.4 million tonnes for 2022 and increasing to 2.8 million tonnes by 2026. The discount rate of 10.0% has 
been used in measuring value in use. In making financial forecasts, executive management has relied on 
technical experts wherever deemed appropriate, including the areas of engineering and marketing aspects of 
operations. 

Based on the independent assessment, management and Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no further 
provision for impairment is required.  

Whilst the future cash flow is dependent on key variables and some of the critical variables such as sugar price, 
exchange rate, cane volumes and POCS (pure obtainable cane sugar) ratio, these are outside the control of the 
Corporation. Furthermore, variables such as mill uptime (including its impact on TCTS), crushing rate, level of 
operating costs and mill stoppages are critically dependent on the performance and efficiency of the mill. 

Executive management and Directors’ assessment of cash flow forecast involves making a judgment, at the 
particular point in time, about inherently uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. Accordingly, 
subsequent events may result in outcomes that are significantly different from assessment. 

(b) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

In relation to acquired property, plant and equipment, the executive management apply judgment to determine 
the depreciation period based on the expected useful lives of the respective assets. Where estimated useful lives 
or recoverable values have diminished due to technological change or market conditions, depreciation is 
accelerated. 

The executive management’s assessment of useful lives or recoverable amount involves making a judgment, at 
the particular point in time, about inherent uncertain future outcomes of events or conditions. Accordingly, 
subsequent events may result in outcomes that are significantly different from assessment. 
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33.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  jjuuddggeemmeennttss  eessttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(c) Allowances for stock obsolescence 

Allowances for stock obsolescence is assessed and raised on a specific and collective basis based on a review of 
inventories, including the status of inventories by the engineering team of the Corporation. Inventories 
considered obsolete or un-serviceable are written off in the year in which they are identified.   

(d) Impairment of accounts receivable 

Impairment of accounts receivable balances is assessed at an individual as well as on a collective level. At a 
collective level, all debtors outstanding for more than three months (excluding those covered by a specific 
impairment provision) are considered to have been impaired and provisions are made based on assessment of 
individual accounts. 

(e) Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses and benefits arising from temporary differences to 
the extent that taxable profits will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely and level of future taxable profits together with future planning strategies. The deferred tax asset relating 
to tax losses and temporary differences have not been brought to account as in the opinion of the executive 
management its realization is not considered to be probable.  Further details are contained in Note 9(d). 

(f) Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax liability is recognized on taxable temporary differences and is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period in which the liability is expected to be settled. The management’s decision in recoding its deferred 
tax liability requires significant judgment and estimates of future tax rates and future tax payables. The deferred tax 
liability has not been recognized in view of significant unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to tax losses and other 
temporary differences which is expected to be available as deduction against realization of temporary differences 
giving rise to tax liability. Subsequent events may result in outcomes that may be different from the judgments and 
estimates applied. Further details are contained in Note 9(c). 

(g) Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The Corporation cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Corporation would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Corporation ‘would have 
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available. The Corporation estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific 
estimates. 

44.. SSttaannddaarrddss  iissssuueedd  bbuutt  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Corporation’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Corporation intends to adopt these new and 
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current                                           

In January 2021, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:                                       

•  What is meant by a right to defer settlement                                                                                                   

•  That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period                                                           

•  That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right      

•  That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a 
liability not impact its classification. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied 
retrospectively. The Corporation is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice.                                                                                                                                                                            

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16                                  

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities 
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while 
bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by  
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4. SSttaannddaarrddss  iissssuueedd  bbuutt  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing 
those items, in profit or loss.                                                    

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be 
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.                  

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation.              

44.. FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  

Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, evaluates and 
monitors financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units. The Board of Directors provides policies 
and guidelines for overall risk management, as well as policies and guidance covering specific areas, such as 
mitigating interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

MMaarrkkeett  rriisskk    

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect 
the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the 
return on risk. 

FFoorreeiiggnn  eexxcchhaannggee  rriisskk  

The Corporation undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Consequently, exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuation arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within policy parameters.  

The carrying amount of the Corporation’s foreign currency denominated significant monetary assets and 
liabilities at the end of reporting period are as follows: 

  22002211  22002200  

Liabilities  $000 $000 
US Dollar  108,324 142,357 
Assets    
US Dollar  2,002 1,129 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Corporation is mainly exposed to the currency of USA. 

The following table details the Corporation’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in Fiji dollar against the 
relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to 
key executive management personnel and represents executive management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates.  

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. If the FJD strengthen/weaken by 
10% against the USD with all other variables held constant, pre- tax profit impact is as follows: 

FFoorreeiiggnn  EExxcchhaannggee  RRiisskk  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

  

CChhaannggee  
iinn  UUSSDD  

rraattee  

EEffffeecctt  oonn  pprrooffiitt  
bbeeffoorree  ttaaxx    

$$000000  

2021  +10% 3,238 
  -10% (11,879) 
2020  +10% 15,615 
  -10% (15,692) 
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33.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  jjuuddggeemmeennttss  eessttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(c) Allowances for stock obsolescence 

Allowances for stock obsolescence is assessed and raised on a specific and collective basis based on a review of 
inventories, including the status of inventories by the engineering team of the Corporation. Inventories 
considered obsolete or un-serviceable are written off in the year in which they are identified.   

(d) Impairment of accounts receivable 

Impairment of accounts receivable balances is assessed at an individual as well as on a collective level. At a 
collective level, all debtors outstanding for more than three months (excluding those covered by a specific 
impairment provision) are considered to have been impaired and provisions are made based on assessment of 
individual accounts. 

(e) Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses and benefits arising from temporary differences to 
the extent that taxable profits will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management 
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the 
likely and level of future taxable profits together with future planning strategies. The deferred tax asset relating 
to tax losses and temporary differences have not been brought to account as in the opinion of the executive 
management its realization is not considered to be probable.  Further details are contained in Note 9(d). 

(f) Deferred tax liabilities 

Deferred tax liability is recognized on taxable temporary differences and is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period in which the liability is expected to be settled. The management’s decision in recoding its deferred 
tax liability requires significant judgment and estimates of future tax rates and future tax payables. The deferred tax 
liability has not been recognized in view of significant unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to tax losses and other 
temporary differences which is expected to be available as deduction against realization of temporary differences 
giving rise to tax liability. Subsequent events may result in outcomes that may be different from the judgments and 
estimates applied. Further details are contained in Note 9(c). 

(g) Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The Corporation cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Corporation would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Corporation ‘would have 
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available. The Corporation estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific 
estimates. 

44.. SSttaannddaarrddss  iissssuueedd  bbuutt  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Corporation’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Corporation intends to adopt these new and 
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current                                           

In January 2021, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:                                       

•  What is meant by a right to defer settlement                                                                                                   

•  That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period                                                           

•  That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right      

•  That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a 
liability not impact its classification. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied 
retrospectively. The Corporation is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice.                                                                                                                                                                            

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16                                  

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities 
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while 
bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by  
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4. SSttaannddaarrddss  iissssuueedd  bbuutt  nnoott  yyeett  eeffffeeccttiivvee  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing 
those items, in profit or loss.                                                    

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be 
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.                  

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation.              

44.. FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  

Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, evaluates and 
monitors financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units. The Board of Directors provides policies 
and guidelines for overall risk management, as well as policies and guidance covering specific areas, such as 
mitigating interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. 

MMaarrkkeett  rriisskk    

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect 
the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the 
return on risk. 

FFoorreeiiggnn  eexxcchhaannggee  rriisskk  

The Corporation undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Consequently, exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuation arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within policy parameters.  

The carrying amount of the Corporation’s foreign currency denominated significant monetary assets and 
liabilities at the end of reporting period are as follows: 

  22002211  22002200  

Liabilities  $000 $000 
US Dollar  108,324 142,357 
Assets    
US Dollar  2,002 1,129 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Corporation is mainly exposed to the currency of USA. 

The following table details the Corporation’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in Fiji dollar against the 
relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to 
key executive management personnel and represents executive management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates.  

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. If the FJD strengthen/weaken by 
10% against the USD with all other variables held constant, pre- tax profit impact is as follows: 

FFoorreeiiggnn  EExxcchhaannggee  RRiisskk  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

  

CChhaannggee  
iinn  UUSSDD  

rraattee  

EEffffeecctt  oonn  pprrooffiitt  
bbeeffoorree  ttaaxx    

$$000000  

2021  +10% 3,238 
  -10% (11,879) 
2020  +10% 15,615 
  -10% (15,692) 
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55.. FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

PPrriiccee  aanndd  vvoolluummee  rriisskk  

The Corporation is exposed to world sugar price for bulk sugar exports. The Corporation is also exposed to world 
molasses price for molasses exports.  

From 1 October 2009, Fiji’s quota access to the EU was governed by a new regional Economic Partnership 
Agreement. With effect from 1 October 2017, Fiji enjoys a continuation of market access on quota free and 
duty-free terms, with pricing linked to prevailing market prices in the EU, which in turn is driven by world sugar 
prices. The exposure of Fiji to world sugar price dynamics has thus increased from 1 October 2017.  

Alternative export markets are available to Fiji which potentially provide superior pricing to EU destinations as 
a result of freight premiums arising from Fiji’s geographic proximity to these markets. 

The Corporation does not have investments in equity securities quoted on stock exchange and hence is not 
exposed to equity securities price risk. 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  

The Corporation has significant interest-bearing borrowings denominated in foreign currency from Export 
Import Bank of India (EXIM) and Czarnikow Group Limited. The borrowings from EXIM Bank are at floating rates 
based on “US Dollar London Inter Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR)”, and accordingly are exposed to interest rate risk. 
Borrowings from Czarnikow Group Limited are not exposed to interest rate risk during borrowing term as funds 
are borrowed at fixed interest rates. 

In relation to borrowings from Government of Fiji, Sugar Cane Growers Fund, Reserve Bank of Fiji, Fiji National 
Provident Fund, Fiji Development Bank and Bred Bank, the Corporation is not exposed to interest rate risk during 
borrowing term as it borrows funds at fixed interest rates. However, the Corporation is exposed to market 
interest at the time of the rollover of borrowings or refinancing of borrowings. The interest rate risks and 
exposures are being closely monitored by the Executive Management of the Corporation and the Directors. 

Regulatory risk 

The Corporation’s profitability can be significantly impacted by sugarcane industry regulatory environment, 
regulatory agencies established which governs the Sugarcane Industry in Fiji and the ongoing and proposed 
reforms in the Fiji Sugarcane Industry. 

The salaries and wages payable to workers are subject to relevant wages regulations and employment 
legislation. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to wholesale 
and retail customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks, only reputable parties with known sound 
financial standing are accepted. The credit risks arising on account of receivables is moderate as the 
arrangement for the sugar and molasses sales to the EU and other ACP States are under long term agreement 
and protocol. 

Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to ensure 
availability of funding. The Corporation monitors liquidity through rolling forecasts of the Corporation’s cash 
flow position.   

The table below analyses the Corporation’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   
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Liquidity Risk (continued) 

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3311  MMaayy  22002211   
LLeessss  tthhaann  

11  yyeeaarr  
11  ––  55  

yyeeaarrss  
OOvveerr  55  

yyeeaarrss  TToottaall  

  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:      
  Short term borrowings  130,015 - - 130,015 
  Long term loans and bonds  - 51,459 169,836 221,295 
  Export Import Bank of India  67,834 - - 67,834 
Lease liabilities  584 1,262 1,608 3,454 
Trade and other payables  62,465 - - 62,465 
  260,898 52,721 171,444 485,063 
 

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3311  MMaayy  22002200   
LLeessss  tthhaann  

11  yyeeaarr  
11  ––  55  

yyeeaarrss  
OOvveerr  55  

yyeeaarrss  TToottaall  

  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:      
  Short term borrowings  114,383 - - 114,383 
  Long term loans and bonds  - 42,236 174,726 216,962 
  Export Import Bank of India  9,800 30,453 33,605 73,858 
Lease liabilities  584 1,262 1,882 3,728 
Trade and other payables  67,653 - - 67,653 
  192,420 73,951 210,213 476,584 
 

Cane supply risk 

The Corporation’s profitability is largely dependent on the cane supply by growers. The cane supply and the 
gross profit/(loss) of the Corporation is shown below: 

 

YYeeaarr   

  CCaannee  ssuuppppllyy  
ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

((000000tt))  

GGrroossss  
pprrooffiitt//((lloossss))  
ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

(($$mm))  

2020 – Actual   1,807 (19.82) 
2021 – Actual   1,729 (16.68) 
2022 – Budgeted   1,395 (26.30) 
 
Operational risk  

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, and fraud to external events. When 
controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, 
or lead to financial crisis. The Corporation cannot expect to eliminate all operational risk, but through a control 
framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Corporation is able to manage risks. Controls 
include effective segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and 
assessment procedures. 

66.. CCaappiittaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt    

The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  

The Corporation monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown 
in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and term deposits. Total capital is 
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.  
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55.. FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

PPrriiccee  aanndd  vvoolluummee  rriisskk  

The Corporation is exposed to world sugar price for bulk sugar exports. The Corporation is also exposed to world 
molasses price for molasses exports.  

From 1 October 2009, Fiji’s quota access to the EU was governed by a new regional Economic Partnership 
Agreement. With effect from 1 October 2017, Fiji enjoys a continuation of market access on quota free and 
duty-free terms, with pricing linked to prevailing market prices in the EU, which in turn is driven by world sugar 
prices. The exposure of Fiji to world sugar price dynamics has thus increased from 1 October 2017.  

Alternative export markets are available to Fiji which potentially provide superior pricing to EU destinations as 
a result of freight premiums arising from Fiji’s geographic proximity to these markets. 

The Corporation does not have investments in equity securities quoted on stock exchange and hence is not 
exposed to equity securities price risk. 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  

The Corporation has significant interest-bearing borrowings denominated in foreign currency from Export 
Import Bank of India (EXIM) and Czarnikow Group Limited. The borrowings from EXIM Bank are at floating rates 
based on “US Dollar London Inter Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR)”, and accordingly are exposed to interest rate risk. 
Borrowings from Czarnikow Group Limited are not exposed to interest rate risk during borrowing term as funds 
are borrowed at fixed interest rates. 

In relation to borrowings from Government of Fiji, Sugar Cane Growers Fund, Reserve Bank of Fiji, Fiji National 
Provident Fund, Fiji Development Bank and Bred Bank, the Corporation is not exposed to interest rate risk during 
borrowing term as it borrows funds at fixed interest rates. However, the Corporation is exposed to market 
interest at the time of the rollover of borrowings or refinancing of borrowings. The interest rate risks and 
exposures are being closely monitored by the Executive Management of the Corporation and the Directors. 

Regulatory risk 

The Corporation’s profitability can be significantly impacted by sugarcane industry regulatory environment, 
regulatory agencies established which governs the Sugarcane Industry in Fiji and the ongoing and proposed 
reforms in the Fiji Sugarcane Industry. 

The salaries and wages payable to workers are subject to relevant wages regulations and employment 
legislation. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to wholesale 
and retail customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks, only reputable parties with known sound 
financial standing are accepted. The credit risks arising on account of receivables is moderate as the 
arrangement for the sugar and molasses sales to the EU and other ACP States are under long term agreement 
and protocol. 

Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to ensure 
availability of funding. The Corporation monitors liquidity through rolling forecasts of the Corporation’s cash 
flow position.   

The table below analyses the Corporation’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   
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55.. FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  ppoolliicciieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Liquidity Risk (continued) 

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3311  MMaayy  22002211   
LLeessss  tthhaann  

11  yyeeaarr  
11  ––  55  

yyeeaarrss  
OOvveerr  55  

yyeeaarrss  TToottaall  

  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:      
  Short term borrowings  130,015 - - 130,015 
  Long term loans and bonds  - 51,459 169,836 221,295 
  Export Import Bank of India  67,834 - - 67,834 
Lease liabilities  584 1,262 1,608 3,454 
Trade and other payables  62,465 - - 62,465 
  260,898 52,721 171,444 485,063 
 

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3311  MMaayy  22002200   
LLeessss  tthhaann  

11  yyeeaarr  
11  ––  55  

yyeeaarrss  
OOvveerr  55  

yyeeaarrss  TToottaall  

  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:      
  Short term borrowings  114,383 - - 114,383 
  Long term loans and bonds  - 42,236 174,726 216,962 
  Export Import Bank of India  9,800 30,453 33,605 73,858 
Lease liabilities  584 1,262 1,882 3,728 
Trade and other payables  67,653 - - 67,653 
  192,420 73,951 210,213 476,584 
 

Cane supply risk 

The Corporation’s profitability is largely dependent on the cane supply by growers. The cane supply and the 
gross profit/(loss) of the Corporation is shown below: 

 

YYeeaarr   

  CCaannee  ssuuppppllyy  
ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

((000000tt))  

GGrroossss  
pprrooffiitt//((lloossss))  
ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

(($$mm))  

2020 – Actual   1,807 (19.82) 
2021 – Actual   1,729 (16.68) 
2022 – Budgeted   1,395 (26.30) 
 
Operational risk  

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, and fraud to external events. When 
controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, 
or lead to financial crisis. The Corporation cannot expect to eliminate all operational risk, but through a control 
framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Corporation is able to manage risks. Controls 
include effective segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and 
assessment procedures. 

66.. CCaappiittaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt    

The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  

The Corporation monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown 
in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and term deposits. Total capital is 
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.  
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66.. CCaappiittaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  eessttiimmaattiioonn  

The carrying value less allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The carrying values of financial liabilities are estimated to approximate their fair 
values. 
77.. RReevveennuuee  

Disaggregated revenue information 

Set our below is the disaggregation of the Corporation’s revenue from contracts with customers: 
 

77..11  RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  ccoonnttrraacctt  wwiitthh  ccuussttoommeerrss   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Sale of sugar and molasses – Export    115,007 104,793 

Sale of sugar and molasses – Local   32,705 40,103 

   147,712 144,896 

Timing of revenue recognition:     

--    Goods transferred at a point in time    147,712 144,896 

      

77..22  OOtthheerr  ooppeerraattiinngg  iinnccoommee      

Sale of electricity   4,187 2,908 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   336 25,945 

Amortisation of government grants   739 614 

Realised exchange gain, net   427 1,055 

Government grants   - 49,973 

Unrealised exchange gain, net   6,967 - 

Total other operating revenue   12,656 80,495 

 

88.. OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess  

88..11  CCoosstt  ooff  ssaalleess    22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Depreciation (Note 10)     

  - Leasehold land, buildings and improvements   1,792 1,783 

  - Plant, machinery and equipment   17,956 17,194 

  - Vehicles and transport system   3,087 2,565 

Amortisation of intangible assets   354 346 

Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Note 12(a))   330 357 

Employee cost   19,661 22,111 

Factory related cost   16,722 17,733 

Purchase of cane recognised as an expense   104,615 102,631 

Total cost of sales   164,517 164,720 
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88..  OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  
  
88..22  AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ooppeerraattiinngg  eexxppeennsseess    22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Auditor’s remuneration – audit fees   56 56 

Internal audit fees   101 25 

Other accounting services   18 110 

Directors’ fees and allowance   27 24 

Employee related costs   4,972 5,887 

Insurance   3,896 4,627 

Guaranteed cane price   - 4,226 

Other operating expenses   5,861 5,651 

Total administrative expenses   14,931 20,606 

  
  

88..33  FFiinnaannccee  ccoossttss 

    

Interest on debts and borrowings   13,444 16,311 

Interest on lease liabilities   283 301 

Total finance costs   13,727 16,612 

     

88..44  FFiinnaannccee  iinnccoommee     

Interest income   20 7 

Total finance income   20 7 

     

88..55  OOtthheerr  eexxppeennsseess      

Unrealised exchange loss, net   - (1,581) 

Total other expense   - (1,581) 

     

88..66  EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee      

Wages and salaries   25,876 29,544 

FNPF contribution   1,475 3,194 

   27,351 32,738 

Less staff costs for capital works   (194) (676) 

   27,157 32,062 

Provision for employee benefits, net movement   85 (613) 

Total employee benefits expense   27,242 31,449 
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66.. CCaappiittaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  eessttiimmaattiioonn  

The carrying value less allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The carrying values of financial liabilities are estimated to approximate their fair 
values. 
77.. RReevveennuuee  

Disaggregated revenue information 

Set our below is the disaggregation of the Corporation’s revenue from contracts with customers: 
 

77..11  RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  ccoonnttrraacctt  wwiitthh  ccuussttoommeerrss   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Sale of sugar and molasses – Export    115,007 104,793 

Sale of sugar and molasses – Local   32,705 40,103 

   147,712 144,896 

Timing of revenue recognition:     

--    Goods transferred at a point in time    147,712 144,896 

      

77..22  OOtthheerr  ooppeerraattiinngg  iinnccoommee      

Sale of electricity   4,187 2,908 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   336 25,945 

Amortisation of government grants   739 614 

Realised exchange gain, net   427 1,055 

Government grants   - 49,973 

Unrealised exchange gain, net   6,967 - 

Total other operating revenue   12,656 80,495 

 

88.. OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess  

88..11  CCoosstt  ooff  ssaalleess    22002211  22002200  
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Depreciation (Note 10)     

  - Leasehold land, buildings and improvements   1,792 1,783 

  - Plant, machinery and equipment   17,956 17,194 

  - Vehicles and transport system   3,087 2,565 

Amortisation of intangible assets   354 346 

Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Note 12(a))   330 357 

Employee cost   19,661 22,111 

Factory related cost   16,722 17,733 

Purchase of cane recognised as an expense   104,615 102,631 

Total cost of sales   164,517 164,720 
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88..  OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  
  
88..22  AAddmmiinniissttrraattiivvee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ooppeerraattiinngg  eexxppeennsseess    22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Auditor’s remuneration – audit fees   56 56 

Internal audit fees   101 25 

Other accounting services   18 110 

Directors’ fees and allowance   27 24 

Employee related costs   4,972 5,887 

Insurance   3,896 4,627 

Guaranteed cane price   - 4,226 

Other operating expenses   5,861 5,651 

Total administrative expenses   14,931 20,606 

  
  

88..33  FFiinnaannccee  ccoossttss 

    

Interest on debts and borrowings   13,444 16,311 

Interest on lease liabilities   283 301 

Total finance costs   13,727 16,612 

     

88..44  FFiinnaannccee  iinnccoommee     

Interest income   20 7 

Total finance income   20 7 

     

88..55  OOtthheerr  eexxppeennsseess      

Unrealised exchange loss, net   - (1,581) 

Total other expense   - (1,581) 

     

88..66  EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee      

Wages and salaries   25,876 29,544 

FNPF contribution   1,475 3,194 

   27,351 32,738 

Less staff costs for capital works   (194) (676) 

   27,157 32,062 

Provision for employee benefits, net movement   85 (613) 

Total employee benefits expense   27,242 31,449 
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99.. IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020 are: 

aa)) PPrrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  

   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Accounting (loss)/profit before income tax   (32,787) 21,879 

Prima facie tax thereon at the Fiji rate of 20%   (6,557) 4,375 

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes   (13) 461 

Amortisation of government grant   (148) (123) 

Government grants exempt from tax   - (10,000) 

Current year tax losses not recognised   6,718 5,287 

Income tax attributable to operating profit/(loss)   - - 

  

bb)) CCuurrrreenntt  ttaaxx  aasssseett  

Movements during the year were as follows: 

   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Opening balance at 1 June    479 479 

Movement during the year   2 - 

Closing balance at 31 May   481 479 
  

cc)) DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  lliiaabbiilliittyy  

Deferred tax liability of the Corporation amounting to $9.7 million (2020: $7.0 million) has not been recognized 
in view of significant unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to tax losses and other temporary differences 
which will be available as deduction against realization of temporary differences giving rise to tax liability.   

 
dd)) DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss  nnoott  rreeccooggnniizzeedd  

In accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, tax losses are allowed to be carried forward for 8 years 
from 1 January 2020 (prior to 1 January 2020: 4 years). 

The deferred tax assets of the Corporation relating to estimated tax losses and temporary differences amounting 
to approximately $29 million (2020: $32 million) have not been brought to account as its realization is not 
considered to be probable. The deferred tax asset will only be realized if: 

i) the Corporation derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the 
benefit from the deductions for the loss to be realized 

ii) the Corporation continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation 

iii) no changes in the tax legislation adversely affect the Corporation in realizing the benefit from the 
deductions for the loss. 
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1100.. PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

 FFrreeeehhoolldd  
llaanndd  

LLeeaasseehhoolldd  
llaanndd  

BBuuiillddiinnggss  aanndd  
iimmpprroovveemmeennttss  

PPllaanntt,,  
mmaacchhiinneerryy  

aanndd  
eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

VVeehhiicclleess  
aanndd  

ttrraannssppoorrtt  
ssyysstteemm  

CCaappiittaall  
wwoorrkk  iinn  

pprrooggrreessss  
TToottaall  

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

3311  MMaayy  22002211         

Cost 16,835 527 69,090 454,399 58,661 2,348 601,860 

Accumulated depreciation - (101) (31,685) (304,783) (38,339) - (374,908) 

Accumulated impairment   -    - (16,214) (59,322) (2,849)  -    (78,385) 

At 31 May 2021 16,835 426 21,191 90,294 17,473 2,348 148,567 

Movement:        

At 1 June 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

Additions   -     -     -     -     -    8,330 8,330 

Disposals (19) - (14) (399) (31) - (463) 

Depreciation  -    (11) (1,781) (17,956) (3,087) -     (22,835)  

Transfer from CWIP - - 26 7,223 3,212 (10,461) - 

Reversal assets held for 
sale (g) 

678 - 3,673 - - - 4,351 

At 31 May 2021 16,835 426 21,191 90,294 17,473 2,348 148,567 

  
3311  MMaayy  22002200 

       

Cost 16,854 527 69,089 452,367 56,500 4,479 599,816 

Accumulated depreciation - (90) (29,915) (291,619) (36,272) - (357,896) 

Accumulated impairment  - - (16,214) (59,322) (2,849) - (78,385) 

Assets held for sale (g) (678) - (3,673) - - - (4,351) 

At 31 May 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

Movement:        

At 1 June 2019 18,974 448 24,533 93,957 8,328 10,925 157,165 

Additions  - - - - - 33,493 33,493 

Disposals (2,120) - (459) (89) - - (2,668) 

Depreciation - (11) (1,772) (17,194) (2,565) - (21,542) 

Transfer from CWIP  - - 658 27,665 11,616 (39,939) - 

Reclassification - - - (2,913) - - (2,913) 

Assets held for Sale (678) - (3,673) - - - (4,351) 

At 31 May 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

  

aa)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  aasssseessssmmeenntt    

During year ended 31 May 2010, an independent impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried 
out by an independent consultant from New Zealand. Based on the independent assessment, the management 
had carried out an assessment of the value in use of property, plant and equipment, and had recognized 
impairment loss amounting to $173.4 million and allocated on a pro-rata basis to buildings and improvements, 
plant, machinery and equipment, vehicles and transport systems in the financial year ended 2010. 
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99.. IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020 are: 

aa)) PPrrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  

   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Accounting (loss)/profit before income tax   (32,787) 21,879 

Prima facie tax thereon at the Fiji rate of 20%   (6,557) 4,375 

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes   (13) 461 

Amortisation of government grant   (148) (123) 

Government grants exempt from tax   - (10,000) 

Current year tax losses not recognised   6,718 5,287 

Income tax attributable to operating profit/(loss)   - - 

  

bb)) CCuurrrreenntt  ttaaxx  aasssseett  

Movements during the year were as follows: 

   22002211  22002200  

   $000 $000 

Opening balance at 1 June    479 479 

Movement during the year   2 - 

Closing balance at 31 May   481 479 
  

cc)) DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  lliiaabbiilliittyy  

Deferred tax liability of the Corporation amounting to $9.7 million (2020: $7.0 million) has not been recognized 
in view of significant unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to tax losses and other temporary differences 
which will be available as deduction against realization of temporary differences giving rise to tax liability.   

 
dd)) DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss  nnoott  rreeccooggnniizzeedd  

In accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, tax losses are allowed to be carried forward for 8 years 
from 1 January 2020 (prior to 1 January 2020: 4 years). 

The deferred tax assets of the Corporation relating to estimated tax losses and temporary differences amounting 
to approximately $29 million (2020: $32 million) have not been brought to account as its realization is not 
considered to be probable. The deferred tax asset will only be realized if: 

i) the Corporation derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the 
benefit from the deductions for the loss to be realized 

ii) the Corporation continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation 

iii) no changes in the tax legislation adversely affect the Corporation in realizing the benefit from the 
deductions for the loss. 
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1100.. PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

 FFrreeeehhoolldd  
llaanndd  

LLeeaasseehhoolldd  
llaanndd  

BBuuiillddiinnggss  aanndd  
iimmpprroovveemmeennttss  

PPllaanntt,,  
mmaacchhiinneerryy  

aanndd  
eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

VVeehhiicclleess  
aanndd  

ttrraannssppoorrtt  
ssyysstteemm  

CCaappiittaall  
wwoorrkk  iinn  

pprrooggrreessss  
TToottaall  

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

3311  MMaayy  22002211         

Cost 16,835 527 69,090 454,399 58,661 2,348 601,860 

Accumulated depreciation - (101) (31,685) (304,783) (38,339) - (374,908) 

Accumulated impairment   -    - (16,214) (59,322) (2,849)  -    (78,385) 

At 31 May 2021 16,835 426 21,191 90,294 17,473 2,348 148,567 

Movement:        

At 1 June 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

Additions   -     -     -     -     -    8,330 8,330 

Disposals (19) - (14) (399) (31) - (463) 

Depreciation  -    (11) (1,781) (17,956) (3,087) -     (22,835)  

Transfer from CWIP - - 26 7,223 3,212 (10,461) - 

Reversal assets held for 
sale (g) 

678 - 3,673 - - - 4,351 

At 31 May 2021 16,835 426 21,191 90,294 17,473 2,348 148,567 

  
3311  MMaayy  22002200 

       

Cost 16,854 527 69,089 452,367 56,500 4,479 599,816 

Accumulated depreciation - (90) (29,915) (291,619) (36,272) - (357,896) 

Accumulated impairment  - - (16,214) (59,322) (2,849) - (78,385) 

Assets held for sale (g) (678) - (3,673) - - - (4,351) 

At 31 May 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

Movement:        

At 1 June 2019 18,974 448 24,533 93,957 8,328 10,925 157,165 

Additions  - - - - - 33,493 33,493 

Disposals (2,120) - (459) (89) - - (2,668) 

Depreciation - (11) (1,772) (17,194) (2,565) - (21,542) 

Transfer from CWIP  - - 658 27,665 11,616 (39,939) - 

Reclassification - - - (2,913) - - (2,913) 

Assets held for Sale (678) - (3,673) - - - (4,351) 

At 31 May 2020 16,176 437 19,287 101,426 17,379 4,479 159,184 

  

aa)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  aasssseessssmmeenntt    

During year ended 31 May 2010, an independent impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried 
out by an independent consultant from New Zealand. Based on the independent assessment, the management 
had carried out an assessment of the value in use of property, plant and equipment, and had recognized 
impairment loss amounting to $173.4 million and allocated on a pro-rata basis to buildings and improvements, 
plant, machinery and equipment, vehicles and transport systems in the financial year ended 2010. 
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1100.. PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

aa)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  aasssseessssmmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

During the years ended 31 May 2012, 31 May 2013 and 31 May 2014 based on independent impairment 
assessment report, management recognized reversal of impairment loss amounting to $40 million, $45.5 million 
and $35 million, respectively. The reversal of impairment and impairment loss were allocated on a pro-rata basis 
to buildings and improvements, plant, machinery and equipment, vehicles and transport systems. Due to 
improvement in mill efficiency and TCTS ratio together with expected improvement in quality and quantity of 
cane supply, the expected recoverable amount and thereby the carrying value of property, plant and equipment 
was assessed to have been improved in those years. 

During the year ended 31 May 2015, based on the independent assessment, management and Directors 
assessed that no further provision for impairment is required. 

For the year ended 31 May 2016, an independent impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried 
out by an independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in accordance 
with International Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amount of the relevant 
assets has been determined on the basis of their value in use (Refer Note 3(a)). Due to fall in mill efficiency and 
TCTS ratio together with reduction in quality and quantity of cane supply, the expected recoverable amount and 
thereby the carrying value of property, plant and equipment was assessed to have reduced. Accordingly, 
executive management and Directors had assessed that additional provision of $24 million for impairment was 
required. 

Based on the independent assessment, management and Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no further 
provision for impairment is required 2017 to 2021. 

The Corporation has further carried out sensitivity analysis of assessment of recoverable amount as at 31 May 
2021 with the following assumptions: 

• Terminal growth rate - ± 0.5% • Expenditure - ± 2%  
• Cane production - ± 2% • World market price - ± 2% 
• Exchange rate - ± 0.5%    
 

Refer Note 3(a) in relation to significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions in relation to 
impairment of property, plant and equipment. 

bb)) RReevvaalluuaattiioonn  ooff  LLaanndd  aanndd  BBuuiillddiinnggss  aass  DDeeeemmeedd  CCoosstt  

In prior years, land and buildings were revalued based on the valuation carried out by independent registered 
valuers, Rolle Hillier Parker of Suva, Fiji in July 2002. Upon adoption of IFRS (effectively from, 1 June 2006), 
the Corporation had elected the option provided under IFRS 1 to apply the cost model (deemed cost) for land 
and buildings previously revalued, and accordingly, the cost value of land and buildings include revaluation 
increments amounting to $66,884,324. 

cc)) IInnssuurraannccee 

The Corporation has obtained insurance cover on various property, plant and equipment (but excluding railway 
network) subject to various terms and conditions and exclusions. 

dd)) PPllaanntt,,  mmaacchhiinneerryy  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

Certain plant, machinery and equipment are subject to security (including Bill of Sale) to Fiji Development Bank 
(Note 18(f)). 

ee)) CCaappiittaall  wwoorrkk  iinn  pprrooggrreessss 

Included in property, plant and equipment at 31 May 2021 was an amount of $2.3 million (2020: $4.4 million) 
relating to expenditure on mill under construction. 

ff)) DDiissppoossaallss  ooff  pprrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

In 2021, the Corporation sold freehold land and buildings with a total net carrying amount of $18,448 for a cash 
consideration of $350,000 The net gains on these disposals were recognised as part of other operating income 
in the statement of profit or loss (Note 7.2). 
 
gg)) AAsssseettss  hheelldd  ffoorr  ssaallee  

During the year, asset held for sale was reclassified to Land and Buildings as debt to asset swap with South 
Pacific Fertiliser Limited and Sugar Cane Growers Fund was cancelled.   
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1111.. IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  

   22002211                              
22002200  

Software costs   $000 $000 

Opening balance at 1 June    2,567 2,913 

Additions   35 - 

Amortisation for the year   (354) (346) 

Closing balance at 31 May    2,248 2,567 
 
Definite lives 

Definite life intangible assets are accounted for at cost. Assets acquired in a business acquisition, are recognised 
initially at fair value at the date of acquisition which is subsequently deemed to be cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives and tested for 
impairment when there is any indication of impairment. Useful life details for these assets are as follows: 

 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of an asset (calculated by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount) is included in the income statement in that financial year.  

1122.. LLeeaasseess  

bb)) RRiigghhtt  ooff  uussee  aasssseettss  ((RROOUU))  

The Corporation currently holds number of leasehold and rental property leases. Lease terms vary in length and 
generally, when approaching expiry, are either extended at the option of the Corporation or are renegotiated.  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cost   4,011 4,011 

Accumulated depreciation   (687) (357) 

   3,324 3,654 

Movement     

Opening balance    3,654 4,011 

Depreciation charge for the year   (330) (357) 

At 31 May    3,324 3,654 

 

The Corporation adopted IFRS 16 as of 1 June 2019. The above represent assets under lease contracts which 
have been recognised as an asset in accordance with IFRS 16. The assets are written down over the terms of 
their contracts. The Corporation elected to use the modified retrospective approach in transition to IFRS 16.  

cc)) LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

The Corporation currently holds number of leasehold and rental property leases. Lease terms vary in length and 
generally, when approaching expiry, are either extended at the option of the Corporation or are renegotiated.  

   22002211  22002200  

Movement:    $000 $000 

Opening balance    3,728 4,011 

Interest   283 301 

Repayments   (557) (584) 

At 31 May    3,454 3,728 

Software development and other assets 3 to 10 years 
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1100.. PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

aa)) IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  aasssseessssmmeenntt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

During the years ended 31 May 2012, 31 May 2013 and 31 May 2014 based on independent impairment 
assessment report, management recognized reversal of impairment loss amounting to $40 million, $45.5 million 
and $35 million, respectively. The reversal of impairment and impairment loss were allocated on a pro-rata basis 
to buildings and improvements, plant, machinery and equipment, vehicles and transport systems. Due to 
improvement in mill efficiency and TCTS ratio together with expected improvement in quality and quantity of 
cane supply, the expected recoverable amount and thereby the carrying value of property, plant and equipment 
was assessed to have been improved in those years. 

During the year ended 31 May 2015, based on the independent assessment, management and Directors 
assessed that no further provision for impairment is required. 

For the year ended 31 May 2016, an independent impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried 
out by an independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in accordance 
with International Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amount of the relevant 
assets has been determined on the basis of their value in use (Refer Note 3(a)). Due to fall in mill efficiency and 
TCTS ratio together with reduction in quality and quantity of cane supply, the expected recoverable amount and 
thereby the carrying value of property, plant and equipment was assessed to have reduced. Accordingly, 
executive management and Directors had assessed that additional provision of $24 million for impairment was 
required. 

Based on the independent assessment, management and Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no further 
provision for impairment is required 2017 to 2021. 

The Corporation has further carried out sensitivity analysis of assessment of recoverable amount as at 31 May 
2021 with the following assumptions: 

• Terminal growth rate - ± 0.5% • Expenditure - ± 2%  
• Cane production - ± 2% • World market price - ± 2% 
• Exchange rate - ± 0.5%    
 

Refer Note 3(a) in relation to significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions in relation to 
impairment of property, plant and equipment. 

bb)) RReevvaalluuaattiioonn  ooff  LLaanndd  aanndd  BBuuiillddiinnggss  aass  DDeeeemmeedd  CCoosstt  

In prior years, land and buildings were revalued based on the valuation carried out by independent registered 
valuers, Rolle Hillier Parker of Suva, Fiji in July 2002. Upon adoption of IFRS (effectively from, 1 June 2006), 
the Corporation had elected the option provided under IFRS 1 to apply the cost model (deemed cost) for land 
and buildings previously revalued, and accordingly, the cost value of land and buildings include revaluation 
increments amounting to $66,884,324. 

cc)) IInnssuurraannccee 

The Corporation has obtained insurance cover on various property, plant and equipment (but excluding railway 
network) subject to various terms and conditions and exclusions. 

dd)) PPllaanntt,,  mmaacchhiinneerryy  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

Certain plant, machinery and equipment are subject to security (including Bill of Sale) to Fiji Development Bank 
(Note 18(f)). 

ee)) CCaappiittaall  wwoorrkk  iinn  pprrooggrreessss 

Included in property, plant and equipment at 31 May 2021 was an amount of $2.3 million (2020: $4.4 million) 
relating to expenditure on mill under construction. 

ff)) DDiissppoossaallss  ooff  pprrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

In 2021, the Corporation sold freehold land and buildings with a total net carrying amount of $18,448 for a cash 
consideration of $350,000 The net gains on these disposals were recognised as part of other operating income 
in the statement of profit or loss (Note 7.2). 
 
gg)) AAsssseettss  hheelldd  ffoorr  ssaallee  

During the year, asset held for sale was reclassified to Land and Buildings as debt to asset swap with South 
Pacific Fertiliser Limited and Sugar Cane Growers Fund was cancelled.   

TTHHEE  FFIIJJII  SSUUGGAARR  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN  LLIIMMIITTEEDD  
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  TTHHEE  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS    
                                                                                

35 

1111.. IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  

   22002211                              
22002200  

Software costs   $000 $000 

Opening balance at 1 June    2,567 2,913 

Additions   35 - 

Amortisation for the year   (354) (346) 

Closing balance at 31 May    2,248 2,567 
 
Definite lives 

Definite life intangible assets are accounted for at cost. Assets acquired in a business acquisition, are recognised 
initially at fair value at the date of acquisition which is subsequently deemed to be cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives and tested for 
impairment when there is any indication of impairment. Useful life details for these assets are as follows: 

 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of an asset (calculated by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount) is included in the income statement in that financial year.  

1122.. LLeeaasseess  

bb)) RRiigghhtt  ooff  uussee  aasssseettss  ((RROOUU))  

The Corporation currently holds number of leasehold and rental property leases. Lease terms vary in length and 
generally, when approaching expiry, are either extended at the option of the Corporation or are renegotiated.  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cost   4,011 4,011 

Accumulated depreciation   (687) (357) 

   3,324 3,654 

Movement     

Opening balance    3,654 4,011 

Depreciation charge for the year   (330) (357) 

At 31 May    3,324 3,654 

 

The Corporation adopted IFRS 16 as of 1 June 2019. The above represent assets under lease contracts which 
have been recognised as an asset in accordance with IFRS 16. The assets are written down over the terms of 
their contracts. The Corporation elected to use the modified retrospective approach in transition to IFRS 16.  

cc)) LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

The Corporation currently holds number of leasehold and rental property leases. Lease terms vary in length and 
generally, when approaching expiry, are either extended at the option of the Corporation or are renegotiated.  

   22002211  22002200  

Movement:    $000 $000 

Opening balance    3,728 4,011 

Interest   283 301 

Repayments   (557) (584) 

At 31 May    3,454 3,728 

Software development and other assets 3 to 10 years 
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1122.. LLeeaasseess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

bb)) LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

This is disclosed as:   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Current liabilities    584 584 

Non-current liabilities   2,870 3,144 

At 31 May    3,454 3,728 

 

cc)) SShhoorrtt  tteerrmm,,  llooww  vvaalluuee  aanndd  vvaarriiaabbllee  lleeaasseess  

As allowed by the Standard, there is no change to the recognition and measurement of short-term, low asset 
value and variable leases. Short term leases are those with terms equal to or less than 12 months and low asset 
value leases. The Corporation has established that there is no short term and low value leases 

 

1133.. IInnvveessttmmeenntt  iinn  aassssoocciiaattee  aanndd  aa  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  

aa)) IInntteerreesstt  iinn  aa  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  ––  NNaaggiiggii  FFaarrmmss  

 Interest (%)  22002211  22002200  

UUnniinnccoorrppoorraatteedd  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree    $000 $000 

Nagigi Farms – Capital contribution 50%  40 40 
 

The Nagigi Farms Joint Venture is an unincorporated joint venture established between Tsunami Farms Limited 
and the Corporation under the Nagigi Farms Joint Venture Agreement dated 1 May 2013 (the Joint Venture 
Agreement). The principal activities of the joint venture are that of performing commercial sugar cane farming 
at Nagigi, Labasa, Fiji. 

The share of the Corporation’s profit as per the unaudited financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2021 
is $80,537 (2020 audited: $94,994). Also, the Corporation’s share of the accumulated deficit under joint 
venture account as at 31 May 2021 amounts to around $9,064 (2020 audited: $89,629) which have been 
recognised in the financial statements up to the extent of the capital contribution of $40,000. The amount of 
$79,500 has been recovered in 2021. Based on the current plans and strategies, the management and the 
Directors are of the view that the amounts invested and /or advanced for joint venture activities is expected to 
be recovered from future cane proceeds and no impairment is required at this stage. 

bb)) IInnvveessttmmeenntt  iinn  aassssoocciiaatteess  

 Interest (%)  22002211  22002200  

AAssssoocciiaatteess    $ $ 

Mataqali Delai Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 

Mataqali Nabau Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 

Mataqali Navunidoi Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 
 

The Corporation has 50% equity ($1 share) in each 3 entities. The other 50% shareholding is held by Mataqali 
Delai Investment Limited, Mataqali Nabau Investment Limited and Mataqali Navunidoi Investment Limited in the 
respective entities. The principal activities of the joint venture entities are that of performing commercial sugar 
cane farming at Rakiraki, Fiji. 

The share of the Corporations profit of the 3 incorporated Joint Ventures as per the unaudited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 May 2021 aggregates to $4,435 (2020 audited: $12,106). Also, the 
Corporation’s share of the shareholder’s equity deficit as at 31 May 2021 amounts to $458,807 (2020 audited: 
$463,242). Based on the current plans and strategies, the management and the Directors are of the view that 
the amounts invested and /or advanced for Joint Venture activities is expected to be recovered from future cane 
proceeds. 
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1144.. IInnvveennttoorriieess  

   22002211  22002200  

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Capital spare parts and spare gears – at cost   7,106 7,594 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence   (5,134) (5,134) 

Total non-current inventories   1,972 2,460 

CCuurrrreenntt     

Maintenance spares and consumables – at cost   2,775 3,047 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence   (963) (963) 

   1,812 2,084 

Sugar and molasses – at net realisable value    4,642 15,841 

Total current inventories   6,454 17,925 

     

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value   8,426 20,385 

 

1155.. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  

   22002211  22002200  

CCuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Receivable from third-party customers   478 502 

Receivable from associates and joint venture *   1,293 1,459 

Receivable from growers – others   - 304 

VAT receivable   1,669 1,183 

Recoverable expenses from contractors   - 943 

Receivable from Government   22,187 20,928 

Other receivables   4,038 3,736 

   29,665 29,055 

Allowance for expected credit losses   (2,249) (2,961) 

   27,416 26,094 

Prepayments and deposits   2,709 4,955 

   30,125 31,049 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables and receivables from related parties are considered to be their 
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Movements on the allowance for expected credit losses of trade 
and other receivables are as follows: 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

As at 1 June    2,961 2,961 

Allowance for expected credit loss   338 - 

Write-off   (1050) - 

At 31 May    2,249 2,961 

Trade receivables principally comprise amounts outstanding for sale of sugar and molasses. Trade receivables 
are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 – 60-day term. 
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1122.. LLeeaasseess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

bb)) LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

This is disclosed as:   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Current liabilities    584 584 

Non-current liabilities   2,870 3,144 

At 31 May    3,454 3,728 

 

cc)) SShhoorrtt  tteerrmm,,  llooww  vvaalluuee  aanndd  vvaarriiaabbllee  lleeaasseess  

As allowed by the Standard, there is no change to the recognition and measurement of short-term, low asset 
value and variable leases. Short term leases are those with terms equal to or less than 12 months and low asset 
value leases. The Corporation has established that there is no short term and low value leases 

 

1133.. IInnvveessttmmeenntt  iinn  aassssoocciiaattee  aanndd  aa  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  

aa)) IInntteerreesstt  iinn  aa  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  ––  NNaaggiiggii  FFaarrmmss  

 Interest (%)  22002211  22002200  

UUnniinnccoorrppoorraatteedd  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree    $000 $000 

Nagigi Farms – Capital contribution 50%  40 40 
 

The Nagigi Farms Joint Venture is an unincorporated joint venture established between Tsunami Farms Limited 
and the Corporation under the Nagigi Farms Joint Venture Agreement dated 1 May 2013 (the Joint Venture 
Agreement). The principal activities of the joint venture are that of performing commercial sugar cane farming 
at Nagigi, Labasa, Fiji. 

The share of the Corporation’s profit as per the unaudited financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2021 
is $80,537 (2020 audited: $94,994). Also, the Corporation’s share of the accumulated deficit under joint 
venture account as at 31 May 2021 amounts to around $9,064 (2020 audited: $89,629) which have been 
recognised in the financial statements up to the extent of the capital contribution of $40,000. The amount of 
$79,500 has been recovered in 2021. Based on the current plans and strategies, the management and the 
Directors are of the view that the amounts invested and /or advanced for joint venture activities is expected to 
be recovered from future cane proceeds and no impairment is required at this stage. 

bb)) IInnvveessttmmeenntt  iinn  aassssoocciiaatteess  

 Interest (%)  22002211  22002200  

AAssssoocciiaatteess    $ $ 

Mataqali Delai Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 

Mataqali Nabau Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 

Mataqali Navunidoi Joint Venture Limited 50%  1 1 
 

The Corporation has 50% equity ($1 share) in each 3 entities. The other 50% shareholding is held by Mataqali 
Delai Investment Limited, Mataqali Nabau Investment Limited and Mataqali Navunidoi Investment Limited in the 
respective entities. The principal activities of the joint venture entities are that of performing commercial sugar 
cane farming at Rakiraki, Fiji. 

The share of the Corporations profit of the 3 incorporated Joint Ventures as per the unaudited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 May 2021 aggregates to $4,435 (2020 audited: $12,106). Also, the 
Corporation’s share of the shareholder’s equity deficit as at 31 May 2021 amounts to $458,807 (2020 audited: 
$463,242). Based on the current plans and strategies, the management and the Directors are of the view that 
the amounts invested and /or advanced for Joint Venture activities is expected to be recovered from future cane 
proceeds. 

TTHHEE  FFIIJJII  SSUUGGAARR  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN  LLIIMMIITTEEDD  
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  TTHHEE  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS    
                                                                                

37 

  

1144.. IInnvveennttoorriieess  

   22002211  22002200  

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Capital spare parts and spare gears – at cost   7,106 7,594 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence   (5,134) (5,134) 

Total non-current inventories   1,972 2,460 

CCuurrrreenntt     

Maintenance spares and consumables – at cost   2,775 3,047 

Allowance for inventory obsolescence   (963) (963) 

   1,812 2,084 

Sugar and molasses – at net realisable value    4,642 15,841 

Total current inventories   6,454 17,925 

     

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value   8,426 20,385 

 

1155.. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  

   22002211  22002200  

CCuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Receivable from third-party customers   478 502 

Receivable from associates and joint venture *   1,293 1,459 

Receivable from growers – others   - 304 

VAT receivable   1,669 1,183 

Recoverable expenses from contractors   - 943 

Receivable from Government   22,187 20,928 

Other receivables   4,038 3,736 

   29,665 29,055 

Allowance for expected credit losses   (2,249) (2,961) 

   27,416 26,094 

Prepayments and deposits   2,709 4,955 

   30,125 31,049 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables and receivables from related parties are considered to be their 
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Movements on the allowance for expected credit losses of trade 
and other receivables are as follows: 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

As at 1 June    2,961 2,961 

Allowance for expected credit loss   338 - 

Write-off   (1050) - 

At 31 May    2,249 2,961 

Trade receivables principally comprise amounts outstanding for sale of sugar and molasses. Trade receivables 
are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 – 60-day term. 
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15. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

* The Corporation has entered into various Joint Ventures (JV). The purpose of the Joint Venture is to undertake 
commercial cane plantation. As at balance date, receivable of $1,292,558 (2020: $1,459,038) relates to 
costs incurred by the Corporation on account of the Joint Ventures. These balances will be recovered 
progressively from the cane proceeds received by the Joint Venture; however, impairment has been created 
in relation to Penang JV’s. 

1166.. CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cash at banks and on hand    6,083 2,197 

   6,083 2,197 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 May: 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cash at banks and on hand    6,083 2,197 

Bank overdrafts (Note 18 (i))   (34,357) (21,194) 

   (28,274) (18,997) 

 

1177.. SShhaarreedd  ccaappiittaall  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Paid up capital     

44,399,998 ordinary shares   22,200 22,200 

   22,200 22,200 

 
1188.. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  

 Notes  22002211  22002200  

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Exim Import Bank of India a (i)  - 62,985 

Exim Import Bank of India a (ii)  - 1,073 

Sugar Cane Growers Fund b  5,084 - 

Reserve Bank of Fiji - Loan c (i)  7,000 7,000 

Reserve Bank of Fiji - Loan c (ii)  5,000 5,000 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Loan d (ii)  39,881 45,451 

Government of Fiji e(i)  139,743 139,743 

Fiji Development Bank f (i)  - 945 

Fiji Development Bank f (ii)  12,075 13,823 

Fiji Development Bank f(iii)  5,777 - 

Fiji Development Bank f(iv)  6,735 - 

Bred Bank g  - 5,000 

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings   221,295 281,020 
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18. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

 Notes  22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

CCuurrrreenntt     

Bank overdrafts i  34,357 21,194 

Exim Import Bank of India a (i)  65,194 7,999 

Exim Import Bank of India a (ii)  2,640 1,801 

Sugar Cane Growers Fund b  881 6,117 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Bonds d (i)  - 25,000 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Loan  d (ii)  5,615 2,353 

Government of Fiji e (ii)  25,000 - 

Fiji Development Bank f (i)  1,937 4,681 

Fiji Development Bank f (ii)  2,560 2,560 

Fiji Development Bank f(iii)  1,300 - 

Fiji Development Bank f(iv)  1,350 - 

Bred Bank g  20,000 5,000 

Czarnikow Group Limited h  30,027 47,478 

Tate & Lyle Sugars  J  3,991 - 

United Molasses Trading Ltd k  2,997 - 

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings   197,849 124,183 

     

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings   419,144 405,203 

 
Particulars relating to borrowings:  

(a) Export Import Bank of India - Loan 

i) The Corporation entered into a contract with the Export Import Bank of India on 7 November 2005 by 
way of Dollar Line of Credit of US$50.4 million for the upgrade of its sugar mills. The loan is secured 
by the Government guarantee and the principal amount was repayable in successive half yearly equal 
instalments of US$1,654,031 over a ten-year period including an initial moratorium of 2 years. Interest 
is payable at the rate of London Inter Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.5%. The outstanding balance is 
to be settled by 31 December 2028. 

During the year the Corporation did not meet any principal repayment and interest payable, pending 
restructure of the facility.    

ii) The Corporation entered into a contract with the Export Import Bank of India on 4 February 2015 by 
way of Dollar Line of Credit of US$5.38 million for the upgrade of its sugar mills. The loan is secured 
by the Government guarantee and the principal amount is repayable from the date of the first advance, 
21 April 2016, in successive half yearly equal instalments of US$413,846 over an eight-year period 
including an initial moratorium of 2 years. Interest is payable at the rate of London Inter Bank Offered 
Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.5%.  

During the year the Corporation did not meet any principal repayment and interest payable, pending 
restructure of the facility.   

(b) Sugar Cane Growers Fund (SCGF) - Loan 

During the year, borrowings from SCGF of $5.97 million was restructured to 10-year term loan with two 
equal installments of $440,430 per year. The loan is secured by Government guarantee. The repayment 
will commence from June 2021. 
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15. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

* The Corporation has entered into various Joint Ventures (JV). The purpose of the Joint Venture is to undertake 
commercial cane plantation. As at balance date, receivable of $1,292,558 (2020: $1,459,038) relates to 
costs incurred by the Corporation on account of the Joint Ventures. These balances will be recovered 
progressively from the cane proceeds received by the Joint Venture; however, impairment has been created 
in relation to Penang JV’s. 

1166.. CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cash at banks and on hand    6,083 2,197 

   6,083 2,197 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 May: 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Cash at banks and on hand    6,083 2,197 

Bank overdrafts (Note 18 (i))   (34,357) (21,194) 

   (28,274) (18,997) 

 

1177.. SShhaarreedd  ccaappiittaall  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Paid up capital     

44,399,998 ordinary shares   22,200 22,200 

   22,200 22,200 

 
1188.. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  

 Notes  22002211  22002200  

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt    $000 $000 

Exim Import Bank of India a (i)  - 62,985 

Exim Import Bank of India a (ii)  - 1,073 

Sugar Cane Growers Fund b  5,084 - 

Reserve Bank of Fiji - Loan c (i)  7,000 7,000 

Reserve Bank of Fiji - Loan c (ii)  5,000 5,000 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Loan d (ii)  39,881 45,451 

Government of Fiji e(i)  139,743 139,743 

Fiji Development Bank f (i)  - 945 

Fiji Development Bank f (ii)  12,075 13,823 

Fiji Development Bank f(iii)  5,777 - 

Fiji Development Bank f(iv)  6,735 - 

Bred Bank g  - 5,000 

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings   221,295 281,020 
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18. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 

 Notes  22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

CCuurrrreenntt     

Bank overdrafts i  34,357 21,194 

Exim Import Bank of India a (i)  65,194 7,999 

Exim Import Bank of India a (ii)  2,640 1,801 

Sugar Cane Growers Fund b  881 6,117 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Bonds d (i)  - 25,000 

Fiji National Provident Fund – Loan  d (ii)  5,615 2,353 

Government of Fiji e (ii)  25,000 - 

Fiji Development Bank f (i)  1,937 4,681 

Fiji Development Bank f (ii)  2,560 2,560 

Fiji Development Bank f(iii)  1,300 - 

Fiji Development Bank f(iv)  1,350 - 

Bred Bank g  20,000 5,000 

Czarnikow Group Limited h  30,027 47,478 

Tate & Lyle Sugars  J  3,991 - 

United Molasses Trading Ltd k  2,997 - 

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings   197,849 124,183 

     

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings   419,144 405,203 

 
Particulars relating to borrowings:  

(a) Export Import Bank of India - Loan 

i) The Corporation entered into a contract with the Export Import Bank of India on 7 November 2005 by 
way of Dollar Line of Credit of US$50.4 million for the upgrade of its sugar mills. The loan is secured 
by the Government guarantee and the principal amount was repayable in successive half yearly equal 
instalments of US$1,654,031 over a ten-year period including an initial moratorium of 2 years. Interest 
is payable at the rate of London Inter Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.5%. The outstanding balance is 
to be settled by 31 December 2028. 

During the year the Corporation did not meet any principal repayment and interest payable, pending 
restructure of the facility.    

ii) The Corporation entered into a contract with the Export Import Bank of India on 4 February 2015 by 
way of Dollar Line of Credit of US$5.38 million for the upgrade of its sugar mills. The loan is secured 
by the Government guarantee and the principal amount is repayable from the date of the first advance, 
21 April 2016, in successive half yearly equal instalments of US$413,846 over an eight-year period 
including an initial moratorium of 2 years. Interest is payable at the rate of London Inter Bank Offered 
Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.5%.  

During the year the Corporation did not meet any principal repayment and interest payable, pending 
restructure of the facility.   

(b) Sugar Cane Growers Fund (SCGF) - Loan 

During the year, borrowings from SCGF of $5.97 million was restructured to 10-year term loan with two 
equal installments of $440,430 per year. The loan is secured by Government guarantee. The repayment 
will commence from June 2021. 

AN
N

U
AL

 R
EP

O
RT

 2
02

1
P

ag
e 

57



TTHHEE  FFIIJJII  SSUUGGAARR  CCOORRPPOORRAATTIIOONN  LLIIMMIITTEEDD  
FFOORR  TTHHEE  YYEEAARR  EENNDDEEDD  3311  MMAAYY  22002211  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  TTHHEE  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS    
                                                                                

40 

1188.. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(c) Reserve Bank of Fiji (RBF) - Loan 

i) Flood Rehabilitation Fund 

The Corporation had borrowed $7 million from RBF to finance rehabilitation work undertaken due to 
severe flooding in the western division of the island of Viti Levu, Fiji. The loan is repayable by 31 May 
2025, subject to the renewal of the Government guarantee.  

ii) Natural Disaster Rehabilitation Fund 

The Corporation has borrowed $5 million from RBF to finance rehabilitation work on the rail system 
due to significant damages sustained from Tropical Cyclone Winston which affected the country in 
February 2016. The loan is repayable by 4 August 2022. 

The above borrowings are secured by the Government guarantee. 

(c) Fiji National Provident Fund 

i) Bonds 

The Corporation raised funds through corporate bonds for $15 million and $10 million during 
September 2015 and October 2015. The bonds mature on 30th September 2019 and 4th November 
2019 respectively. 

The Corporation did not meet the repayment of the Bonds, consequently the guarantee was called. 
As such, the obligation has been passed on to Government of Fiji. 

ii) Term Loan  

The Corporation secured loan of $50 million from FNPF to meet its working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements. The loan is for 15-year term secured by Government guarantee. During 
the year, $5,614,972 was paid towards principal repayment and interest payment. 

(e) Government of Fiji 

i) Loan 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Loans from Government of Fiji   173,817 173,817 

Less: Deferred grant income on interest (Note 19)   (34,074) (34,074) 

   139,743 139,743 
 

The borrowings from Government of Fiji aggregated $173,816,930 and were subject to interest at the 
rate of 5% per annum. As per the original repayment terms, the borrowings were repayable after one 
year from the drawn down dates. However, the Corporation had not recovered its cash flow position 
sufficiently to repay any of these loans.  

In accordance with the Loan Repayment Agreement (LRA) dated 15 July 2015, the loans of 
$173,816,930 from the Government of Fiji was restructured and converted into long term unsecured 
optionally convertible loan. 

The LRA includes a grace period of 10 years for both loan and interest and repayments period of 20 
years resulting in a maturity period of 30 years, from effective date of the loan. Interest of 3% per 
annum shall be payable on the drawn amount or on a semi-annual basis commencing from the 11th 
year from the effective date of the loan. 

The Ministry of Economy may at its absolute discretion convert the full amount or part of the loan into 
fully paid new shares in The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited. 

The benefit of a Government loan at a below-market rate of interest of $34,074,000 is treated as a 
deferred income grant. The loan is recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the difference between 
the initial carrying value of the loan determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the proceeds received 
(Refer Note 19). 

The loan will be converted to equity subsequent to balance date. 
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1188.. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

ii) Debt restructure 

Last year the Corporation did not meet the repayment of bonds with FNPF for $15 million and $10 
million which matured on 30th September 2019 and 4th November 2019 respectively. Consequently, 
the guarantee was called, and the obligation has been taken over by the Government of Fiji. Agreement 
between the Corporation and Government of Fiji is yet to be finalized. 

(f) Fiji Development Bank 

i) The Corporation received the secured funding of $17,010,000 from Fiji Development Bank for 
construction of 10MW power generation plant at Labasa. The loan is payable in monthly instalments of 
$390,100 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees).  

ii) The term loan facility of $30 million was obtained from Fiji Development Bank for purchase of 
agricultural equipment for sugarcane development. The loan is for 10-year period. The drawdown from 
the facility is $20,416,023 and during the year $2.56 million was repaid towards principal, interest and 
bank fees. 

iii) During the year, the Corporation secured term loan funding of $7 million from Fiji Development Bank 
to partially fund the fourth cane payment for 2020 season.  The loan is for 5-year period. The loan is 
payable in monthly instalments of $160,000 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees) 
commencing from November 2021. 

iv) The Corporation obtained a term loan funding of $8 million during the year from Fiji Development Bank 
under the Reserve Bank of Fiji’s Import Substitution and Export Finance Facility to partially fund the 
fourth cane payment for 2020 season.  The loan is for 5-year period. The loan is payable in monthly 
instalments of $170,000 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees) commencing from 
November 2021. 

The term loans from Fiji Development Bank are secured against Government guarantee and bill of sale 
over assets acquired from these loans. 

(g) BRED Bank 

During the year, the funding of $20 million from BRED Bank was restructured with loan repayable by 15 
April 2022, against which the draw down was $10 million. The loan is secured by Government guarantee. 

(h) Czarnikow Group Limited 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$15 million from Czarnikow Group Limited to meet 
operational expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 
season contract and will be repaid through the first and second shipment of sugar for the 2021 season 
(financial year 2022). 

(i) Bank Overdraft - Home Finance Company Limited 

The overdraft facility with HFC was increased to $30 million during the year. The facility is secured by 
Government guarantee and floating charge over all the Corporation’s assets. 

(j) Tate & Lyle Sugars 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$2 million from Tate & Lyle Sugars to meet operational 
expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 season contract 
and will be repaid through US Quota shipment of sugar for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 

(k) United Molasses Trading Ltd 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$1.5 million from United Molasses Trading Ltd to meet 
operational expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 
season contract and will be repaid through molasses shipments for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 
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1188.. IInntteerreesstt--bbeeaarriinngg  llooaannss  aanndd  bboorrrroowwiinnggss  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(c) Reserve Bank of Fiji (RBF) - Loan 

i) Flood Rehabilitation Fund 

The Corporation had borrowed $7 million from RBF to finance rehabilitation work undertaken due to 
severe flooding in the western division of the island of Viti Levu, Fiji. The loan is repayable by 31 May 
2025, subject to the renewal of the Government guarantee.  

ii) Natural Disaster Rehabilitation Fund 

The Corporation has borrowed $5 million from RBF to finance rehabilitation work on the rail system 
due to significant damages sustained from Tropical Cyclone Winston which affected the country in 
February 2016. The loan is repayable by 4 August 2022. 

The above borrowings are secured by the Government guarantee. 

(c) Fiji National Provident Fund 

i) Bonds 

The Corporation raised funds through corporate bonds for $15 million and $10 million during 
September 2015 and October 2015. The bonds mature on 30th September 2019 and 4th November 
2019 respectively. 

The Corporation did not meet the repayment of the Bonds, consequently the guarantee was called. 
As such, the obligation has been passed on to Government of Fiji. 

ii) Term Loan  

The Corporation secured loan of $50 million from FNPF to meet its working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements. The loan is for 15-year term secured by Government guarantee. During 
the year, $5,614,972 was paid towards principal repayment and interest payment. 

(e) Government of Fiji 

i) Loan 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Loans from Government of Fiji   173,817 173,817 

Less: Deferred grant income on interest (Note 19)   (34,074) (34,074) 

   139,743 139,743 
 

The borrowings from Government of Fiji aggregated $173,816,930 and were subject to interest at the 
rate of 5% per annum. As per the original repayment terms, the borrowings were repayable after one 
year from the drawn down dates. However, the Corporation had not recovered its cash flow position 
sufficiently to repay any of these loans.  

In accordance with the Loan Repayment Agreement (LRA) dated 15 July 2015, the loans of 
$173,816,930 from the Government of Fiji was restructured and converted into long term unsecured 
optionally convertible loan. 

The LRA includes a grace period of 10 years for both loan and interest and repayments period of 20 
years resulting in a maturity period of 30 years, from effective date of the loan. Interest of 3% per 
annum shall be payable on the drawn amount or on a semi-annual basis commencing from the 11th 
year from the effective date of the loan. 

The Ministry of Economy may at its absolute discretion convert the full amount or part of the loan into 
fully paid new shares in The Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited. 

The benefit of a Government loan at a below-market rate of interest of $34,074,000 is treated as a 
deferred income grant. The loan is recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the difference between 
the initial carrying value of the loan determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the proceeds received 
(Refer Note 19). 

The loan will be converted to equity subsequent to balance date. 
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ii) Debt restructure 

Last year the Corporation did not meet the repayment of bonds with FNPF for $15 million and $10 
million which matured on 30th September 2019 and 4th November 2019 respectively. Consequently, 
the guarantee was called, and the obligation has been taken over by the Government of Fiji. Agreement 
between the Corporation and Government of Fiji is yet to be finalized. 

(f) Fiji Development Bank 

i) The Corporation received the secured funding of $17,010,000 from Fiji Development Bank for 
construction of 10MW power generation plant at Labasa. The loan is payable in monthly instalments of 
$390,100 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees).  

ii) The term loan facility of $30 million was obtained from Fiji Development Bank for purchase of 
agricultural equipment for sugarcane development. The loan is for 10-year period. The drawdown from 
the facility is $20,416,023 and during the year $2.56 million was repaid towards principal, interest and 
bank fees. 

iii) During the year, the Corporation secured term loan funding of $7 million from Fiji Development Bank 
to partially fund the fourth cane payment for 2020 season.  The loan is for 5-year period. The loan is 
payable in monthly instalments of $160,000 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees) 
commencing from November 2021. 

iv) The Corporation obtained a term loan funding of $8 million during the year from Fiji Development Bank 
under the Reserve Bank of Fiji’s Import Substitution and Export Finance Facility to partially fund the 
fourth cane payment for 2020 season.  The loan is for 5-year period. The loan is payable in monthly 
instalments of $170,000 (including principal, interest, stamp duty and bank fees) commencing from 
November 2021. 

The term loans from Fiji Development Bank are secured against Government guarantee and bill of sale 
over assets acquired from these loans. 

(g) BRED Bank 

During the year, the funding of $20 million from BRED Bank was restructured with loan repayable by 15 
April 2022, against which the draw down was $10 million. The loan is secured by Government guarantee. 

(h) Czarnikow Group Limited 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$15 million from Czarnikow Group Limited to meet 
operational expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 
season contract and will be repaid through the first and second shipment of sugar for the 2021 season 
(financial year 2022). 

(i) Bank Overdraft - Home Finance Company Limited 

The overdraft facility with HFC was increased to $30 million during the year. The facility is secured by 
Government guarantee and floating charge over all the Corporation’s assets. 

(j) Tate & Lyle Sugars 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$2 million from Tate & Lyle Sugars to meet operational 
expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 season contract 
and will be repaid through US Quota shipment of sugar for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 

(k) United Molasses Trading Ltd 

During the year, the Corporation has borrowed US$1.5 million from United Molasses Trading Ltd to meet 
operational expenditures and grower cane payments. The loan is secured through assignment of 2021 
season contract and will be repaid through molasses shipments for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 
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1199.. DDeeffeerrrreedd  iinnccoommee  

 Notes  22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Government grants  a (i)  1,848 1,848 

Government grants a (ii)  5,450 5,329 

India Government grant b  1,487 1,487 

Accumulated depreciation   (2,597) (1,858) 

   6,188 6,806 

Government grant a (iii)  9 580 

Deferred grant income from Government of India b  685 685 

Deferred grant income on interest for the Government of Fiji loan c  34,074 34,074 

Total deferred income – non-current   40,956 42,145 
 

(a) Government grant received in relation to: 

i) the bulk sugar shed and Lautoka lorry shed which is being amortised on a straight-line basis at 2%.  

ii) purchase of sugarcane haulage trucks to provide reliable transport, consistent cane supply and 
reasonable cartage cost for the farmers. The grant is being amortised on a straight-line basis at 10%.  

iii) procurement of harvesters for hilly cane areas. An agreement has been made on 16th May 2019 for 
government to provide $500,000 for this procurement. The grant is being amortised on a straight-line 
basis at 10%. 

(b) Relates to grant provided by the Government of India to the Corporation through the Ministry of Sugar 
Industry for the purchase of agricultural equipment with implements. Four harvesters and five tractors 
worth $1,487,274.37 have been purchased, which is being amortized accordingly in the books.  

(c) Deferred grant income is measured as the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan and the 
actual proceeds from government loan. The initial carrying value of the loan is determined as the future 
cash payments (principal and interest) through the expected life of the loan to maturity discounted at the 
market rate of interest that would apply to an identical loan without the conversion option (Refer Note 
18(e)). 

 

1199.. EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiitt  lliiaabbiilliittyy  

   22002211  22002200  

AAnnnnuuaall  lleeaavvee  eennttiittlleemmeennttss  --  oobblliiggaattiioonn    $000 $000 

As at 1 June     1,019 1,403 

Movement during the year   (8) (384) 

Obligation at 31 May - Current   1,011 1,019 

     

LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee  eennttiittlleemmeennttss  --  oobblliiggaattiioonn      

As at 1 June     1,453 1,683 

Movement during the year   93 (230) 

Obligation at 31 May – Non-current   1,546 1,453 

     

Total obligation for employee benefits   2,557 2,472 
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Annual Leave 

Generally, annual leave is taken within one year of entitlement and accordingly, it is expected that a significant 
portion of the total annual leave balance will be utilised within the next financial year. 

Long service leave and termination benefits 

Long service leave and termination benefits are accrued for employees entitled to the same under their terms 
of employment. Note 2.2(r) outline the accounting policy and underlying basis for these accruals. The expected 
future payments are discounted at the rate of 5.5%. 

 

2211.. PPrroovviissiioonnss  

 UUnnppaaiidd  rreenntt  LLiittiiggaattiioonnss  TToottaall  

  $000  $000 $000 

As at 1 June   1,443  1,226 2,669 

Movement during the year 122  678 800 

Obligation at 31 May - Current 1,565  1,904 3,469 

 
 
 
2222.. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Trade payables   3,603 3,998 

Other payables   7,250 6,858 

Grower creditors   43,976 34,420 

Cane access road, ACRP and other grants payable   2,576 3,284 

Income in advance    25 13,884 

Interest payable   5,035 5,209 

   62,465 67,653 
 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:  

• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms  

• Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months  

• Interest payable is normally settled quarterly throughout the financial year 

For explanations on the Corporation’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 5. 

 

2233.. CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenncciieess  

CCaappiittaall  ccoommmmiittmmeennttss  

At 31 May, capital commitment is as follows 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Capital commitments contracted but not provided for in accounts   2,302 3,826 

   2,302 3,826 
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1199.. DDeeffeerrrreedd  iinnccoommee  

 Notes  22002211  22002200  
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Government grants  a (i)  1,848 1,848 

Government grants a (ii)  5,450 5,329 

India Government grant b  1,487 1,487 

Accumulated depreciation   (2,597) (1,858) 

   6,188 6,806 

Government grant a (iii)  9 580 

Deferred grant income from Government of India b  685 685 

Deferred grant income on interest for the Government of Fiji loan c  34,074 34,074 

Total deferred income – non-current   40,956 42,145 
 

(a) Government grant received in relation to: 

i) the bulk sugar shed and Lautoka lorry shed which is being amortised on a straight-line basis at 2%.  

ii) purchase of sugarcane haulage trucks to provide reliable transport, consistent cane supply and 
reasonable cartage cost for the farmers. The grant is being amortised on a straight-line basis at 10%.  

iii) procurement of harvesters for hilly cane areas. An agreement has been made on 16th May 2019 for 
government to provide $500,000 for this procurement. The grant is being amortised on a straight-line 
basis at 10%. 

(b) Relates to grant provided by the Government of India to the Corporation through the Ministry of Sugar 
Industry for the purchase of agricultural equipment with implements. Four harvesters and five tractors 
worth $1,487,274.37 have been purchased, which is being amortized accordingly in the books.  

(c) Deferred grant income is measured as the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan and the 
actual proceeds from government loan. The initial carrying value of the loan is determined as the future 
cash payments (principal and interest) through the expected life of the loan to maturity discounted at the 
market rate of interest that would apply to an identical loan without the conversion option (Refer Note 
18(e)). 

 

1199.. EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiitt  lliiaabbiilliittyy  

   22002211  22002200  

AAnnnnuuaall  lleeaavvee  eennttiittlleemmeennttss  --  oobblliiggaattiioonn    $000 $000 

As at 1 June     1,019 1,403 

Movement during the year   (8) (384) 

Obligation at 31 May - Current   1,011 1,019 

     

LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee  eennttiittlleemmeennttss  --  oobblliiggaattiioonn      

As at 1 June     1,453 1,683 

Movement during the year   93 (230) 

Obligation at 31 May – Non-current   1,546 1,453 

     

Total obligation for employee benefits   2,557 2,472 
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Annual Leave 

Generally, annual leave is taken within one year of entitlement and accordingly, it is expected that a significant 
portion of the total annual leave balance will be utilised within the next financial year. 

Long service leave and termination benefits 

Long service leave and termination benefits are accrued for employees entitled to the same under their terms 
of employment. Note 2.2(r) outline the accounting policy and underlying basis for these accruals. The expected 
future payments are discounted at the rate of 5.5%. 

 

2211.. PPrroovviissiioonnss  

 UUnnppaaiidd  rreenntt  LLiittiiggaattiioonnss  TToottaall  

  $000  $000 $000 

As at 1 June   1,443  1,226 2,669 

Movement during the year 122  678 800 

Obligation at 31 May - Current 1,565  1,904 3,469 

 
 
 
2222.. TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Trade payables   3,603 3,998 

Other payables   7,250 6,858 

Grower creditors   43,976 34,420 

Cane access road, ACRP and other grants payable   2,576 3,284 

Income in advance    25 13,884 

Interest payable   5,035 5,209 

   62,465 67,653 
 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:  

• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms  

• Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months  

• Interest payable is normally settled quarterly throughout the financial year 

For explanations on the Corporation’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 5. 

 

2233.. CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenncciieess  

CCaappiittaall  ccoommmmiittmmeennttss  

At 31 May, capital commitment is as follows 

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Capital commitments contracted but not provided for in accounts   2,302 3,826 

   2,302 3,826 
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CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  ffoorr  ppuurrcchhaassee  ooff  ccaannee  aanndd  ffoorr  ssuuppppllyy  ooff  ssuuggaarr  

The Corporation is committed to purchase sugarcane from growers. Furthermore, the Corporation is committed 
to supply sugar to the European Union and other potential buyers. Further, the Corporation has embarked on 
looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional and Asian markets to mitigate the impact 
since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new market areas being pursued 
now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a decent market price. Refer Note 25 for 
further details. 
 

LLeeggaall  ccllaaiimm  ccoonnttiinnggeennccyy  (wage claims and other litigations)  

The Corporation and the workers or workers’ union are contesting various matters relating to employee 
grievances, termination matters and certain other matters. The disputes are on matters of principle and 
interpretation. The matters are still under consideration by the Court, Tribunal and the Ministry of Labour. The 
ultimate outcome cannot be presently determined.  
 

GGuuaarraanntteeeess  

The Corporation has provided the following guarantees at 31 May 2021: 

   22002211  22002200  

    $ $ 

Guarantees or bonds given by the bank   67 67 

 

2244.. CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  ffoorr  ppuurrcchhaassee  ooff  ccaannee  aanndd  ccoommmmiittmmeennttss  ffoorr  ssuuppppllyy  ooff  ssuuggaarr  iinn  tthhee  nneexxtt  1122  
mmoonntthhss  

The Corporation purchases cane from growers as required by the Master Award and in accordance with the terms, 
conditions and procedures set out in the Master Award. The Master Award forms an integral part of the Sugar Industry 
Act.  Under the Master Award, the growers share 70% of the proceeds for sugar produced up to 325,000 tonnes; 72.5% 
of the proceeds for sugar produced between 325,000 – 350,000 tonnes and 75% of proceeds for sugar produced in 
excess of 350,000 tonnes. The sugar proceeds are shared net of industry costs such as marketing, shipping and Sugar 
Research Institute of Fiji. 

During the 2020 crushing season (year ended 31 May 2021), the growers supplied to the Corporation a total of 1.73 
million tonnes of cane from which 151,599 tonnes of sugar has been produced. The Corporation has exported 124,857 
tonnes of sugar against its supply commitments to the buyers.   

Traditionally, the Corporation sold its sugar to the European Union (EU) under the regional Economic Partnership 
Agreements (EPA) that came to end on 30 September 2017. 

With effect from 1 October 2017, Fiji enjoys a continuation of market access on quota free and duty-free terms, with 
pricing linked to prevailing market prices in the EU, which in turn will be driven by world sugar prices. The exposure of 
Fiji to world sugar price dynamics has thus increased from 1 October 2017.  

Alternative export markets are available to Fiji which potentially provide superior pricing to EU destinations as a result 
of freight premiums arising from Fiji's geographic proximity to these markets. 

The Corporation has embarked on looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional and Asian 
markets to mitigate the impact since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new market 
areas being pursued now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a decent market price. 

 

2255.. GGooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  aanndd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssuuppppoorrtt  

The Corporation has been incurring significant losses during recent years.  During the year ended 31 May 2021, 
the Corporation has incurred loss from operations of $19.1 million (2020: profit from operations of $40.1 
million) and net loss before income tax of $32.8 million (2020: net profit before income tax: $21.9 million).   

As at 31 May 2021, total liabilities of the Corporation exceed total assets resulting in net liability of $332.8 
million (2020: $300.0 million). The current liabilities exceed the current assets by $222.2 million, representing 
the ratio of 6.2: 1 (2020: $144.4 million, representing the ratio of 3.8: 1). 

The Corporation has debt repayment commitments amounting to $214.2 million during the financial year ending 
31 May 2022. Furthermore, the Corporation requires further funding to meet its working capital requirements, 
capital expenditure and fund the operating losses. 
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Given the financial position and the debt levels of the Corporation and recurring losses being incurred by the 
Corporation, these factors indicate that without Government support, the Corporation will not be able to continue as 
a going concern. 

Accordingly, the Government is committed to provide assistance to bring about the required reforms and 
improvements thereby: 

• The Government continues to provide support to the Corporation and the sugarcane industry.  

• Sugarcane industry reforms are achieved and funding for the sugarcane industry at large is made available for a 
long-term sustainability and survival of the sugarcane industry and the Corporation. 

The Government as a majority shareholder has made a commitment to support and assist the sugarcane industry given 
the importance of the sugarcane industry for the economy of Fiji. The Government’s support to the Corporation is 
evident by: 

(a) The increase of Government guarantees to $322 million in 2012 and extension of the guarantee till 31 May 2022. 

(b) The loans from the Government of Fiji aggregating to $173,816,930 will be converted into equity as declared in 
the Government’s Supplementary Budget announcement on 26th March 2020. 

(c) The Government of Fiji taking over repayment of $25 million bonds defaulted by the Corporation. 

(d) Continuous allocation of grants and funding to the sugar industry by the Government for the Sugar Development 
Program, Sugar Stabilisation Fund, cane access roads, fertilizer subsidies and other benefits directly or indirectly 
to the farmers. The Government allocated $62.7 million in 2020/2021 National Budget for various initiatives to 
assist the sugar cane industry, including Sugarcane Development, establishment of sugar cane stabilization fund, 
Cane Access Roads, Fertiliser and Weedicide subsidy, subsidy for the cartage costs for the transportation of 
sugarcane from Penang to Rarawai Mill, small grant scheme for irrigation, water tank, water pumps, and some 
new farmers’ assistance programme and support on the use of machineries. 

(e) Development of 5-year National Sugar Industry policy coordinated by Ministry of Sugar Industry in consultation 
with key stakeholders of the industry. The policy will provide strategic respond to long-term challenges including 
sugarcane and sugar production, transportation, harvesting and milling, marketing, capacity, etc, that is affecting 
the Sugar Industry. It will provide a clear vision and coherent direction for coordination among the Sugar Industry 
stakeholders including industry institutions, policy makers, investors, private sectors, and non-government 
organisations for the development and sustainability of the Sugar Industry. 

2255.. GGooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  aanndd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssuuppppoorrtt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Furthermore: 

i) In 2019, the Corporation developed five (5) year revised strategic plan till 2023 to restore viability and 
sustainability of the industry. It aims to transform the Corporation in next 5 years through revenue 
optimisation from large scale sugar plantations, cost cutting initiatives, embark upon revenue generating 
investments, better marketing of Sugars of Fiji, continue to achieve improvements in mill efficiency and 
mill performance together with improved quantity and quality of cane supply and thereby generate 
adequate profits and cash flows from future operations to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. 
Appropriate plans and strategies together with detailed work plan and milestones are being implemented 
by the Directors and management to achieve the targets set out in the strategic plan.  

ii) Management is making all efforts in consultation with the project engineers and contractors to bring 
about efficiency within the upgraded mill plants and machinery at the three mills. Training of operators 
in critical areas of operations is continuing under the guidance of technical experts. It is expected with 
continuous improvement in this manner, the performance of the upgraded plants will fully integrate with 
older plant and machinery and it is expected the milling efficiencies will improve to an acceptable level of 
performance. 

iii) Technical expertise is being engaged where necessary in order to carry out financial restructure, 
operations streamlining and marketing of Sugars of Fiji brand to get better value for our sugar. 

iv) The Corporation has embarked on looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional 
and Asian markets since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new 
market areas being pursued now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a 
decent market price.  

v) Various non-core assets of the Corporation have been identified and are being sold.  

vi) A number of strategies and initiatives have been put in place to reduce costs through rationalization of 
manpower levels, streamlining of business operations, centralization of corporate functions and 
outsourcing of non-core activities. 
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CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  ffoorr  ppuurrcchhaassee  ooff  ccaannee  aanndd  ffoorr  ssuuppppllyy  ooff  ssuuggaarr  

The Corporation is committed to purchase sugarcane from growers. Furthermore, the Corporation is committed 
to supply sugar to the European Union and other potential buyers. Further, the Corporation has embarked on 
looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional and Asian markets to mitigate the impact 
since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new market areas being pursued 
now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a decent market price. Refer Note 25 for 
further details. 
 

LLeeggaall  ccllaaiimm  ccoonnttiinnggeennccyy  (wage claims and other litigations)  

The Corporation and the workers or workers’ union are contesting various matters relating to employee 
grievances, termination matters and certain other matters. The disputes are on matters of principle and 
interpretation. The matters are still under consideration by the Court, Tribunal and the Ministry of Labour. The 
ultimate outcome cannot be presently determined.  
 

GGuuaarraanntteeeess  

The Corporation has provided the following guarantees at 31 May 2021: 
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Guarantees or bonds given by the bank   67 67 
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The Corporation purchases cane from growers as required by the Master Award and in accordance with the terms, 
conditions and procedures set out in the Master Award. The Master Award forms an integral part of the Sugar Industry 
Act.  Under the Master Award, the growers share 70% of the proceeds for sugar produced up to 325,000 tonnes; 72.5% 
of the proceeds for sugar produced between 325,000 – 350,000 tonnes and 75% of proceeds for sugar produced in 
excess of 350,000 tonnes. The sugar proceeds are shared net of industry costs such as marketing, shipping and Sugar 
Research Institute of Fiji. 

During the 2020 crushing season (year ended 31 May 2021), the growers supplied to the Corporation a total of 1.73 
million tonnes of cane from which 151,599 tonnes of sugar has been produced. The Corporation has exported 124,857 
tonnes of sugar against its supply commitments to the buyers.   

Traditionally, the Corporation sold its sugar to the European Union (EU) under the regional Economic Partnership 
Agreements (EPA) that came to end on 30 September 2017. 

With effect from 1 October 2017, Fiji enjoys a continuation of market access on quota free and duty-free terms, with 
pricing linked to prevailing market prices in the EU, which in turn will be driven by world sugar prices. The exposure of 
Fiji to world sugar price dynamics has thus increased from 1 October 2017.  

Alternative export markets are available to Fiji which potentially provide superior pricing to EU destinations as a result 
of freight premiums arising from Fiji's geographic proximity to these markets. 

The Corporation has embarked on looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional and Asian 
markets to mitigate the impact since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new market 
areas being pursued now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a decent market price. 

 

2255.. GGooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  aanndd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssuuppppoorrtt  

The Corporation has been incurring significant losses during recent years.  During the year ended 31 May 2021, 
the Corporation has incurred loss from operations of $19.1 million (2020: profit from operations of $40.1 
million) and net loss before income tax of $32.8 million (2020: net profit before income tax: $21.9 million).   

As at 31 May 2021, total liabilities of the Corporation exceed total assets resulting in net liability of $332.8 
million (2020: $300.0 million). The current liabilities exceed the current assets by $222.2 million, representing 
the ratio of 6.2: 1 (2020: $144.4 million, representing the ratio of 3.8: 1). 

The Corporation has debt repayment commitments amounting to $214.2 million during the financial year ending 
31 May 2022. Furthermore, the Corporation requires further funding to meet its working capital requirements, 
capital expenditure and fund the operating losses. 
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Given the financial position and the debt levels of the Corporation and recurring losses being incurred by the 
Corporation, these factors indicate that without Government support, the Corporation will not be able to continue as 
a going concern. 

Accordingly, the Government is committed to provide assistance to bring about the required reforms and 
improvements thereby: 

• The Government continues to provide support to the Corporation and the sugarcane industry.  

• Sugarcane industry reforms are achieved and funding for the sugarcane industry at large is made available for a 
long-term sustainability and survival of the sugarcane industry and the Corporation. 

The Government as a majority shareholder has made a commitment to support and assist the sugarcane industry given 
the importance of the sugarcane industry for the economy of Fiji. The Government’s support to the Corporation is 
evident by: 

(a) The increase of Government guarantees to $322 million in 2012 and extension of the guarantee till 31 May 2022. 

(b) The loans from the Government of Fiji aggregating to $173,816,930 will be converted into equity as declared in 
the Government’s Supplementary Budget announcement on 26th March 2020. 

(c) The Government of Fiji taking over repayment of $25 million bonds defaulted by the Corporation. 

(d) Continuous allocation of grants and funding to the sugar industry by the Government for the Sugar Development 
Program, Sugar Stabilisation Fund, cane access roads, fertilizer subsidies and other benefits directly or indirectly 
to the farmers. The Government allocated $62.7 million in 2020/2021 National Budget for various initiatives to 
assist the sugar cane industry, including Sugarcane Development, establishment of sugar cane stabilization fund, 
Cane Access Roads, Fertiliser and Weedicide subsidy, subsidy for the cartage costs for the transportation of 
sugarcane from Penang to Rarawai Mill, small grant scheme for irrigation, water tank, water pumps, and some 
new farmers’ assistance programme and support on the use of machineries. 

(e) Development of 5-year National Sugar Industry policy coordinated by Ministry of Sugar Industry in consultation 
with key stakeholders of the industry. The policy will provide strategic respond to long-term challenges including 
sugarcane and sugar production, transportation, harvesting and milling, marketing, capacity, etc, that is affecting 
the Sugar Industry. It will provide a clear vision and coherent direction for coordination among the Sugar Industry 
stakeholders including industry institutions, policy makers, investors, private sectors, and non-government 
organisations for the development and sustainability of the Sugar Industry. 

2255.. GGooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  aanndd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssuuppppoorrtt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

Furthermore: 

i) In 2019, the Corporation developed five (5) year revised strategic plan till 2023 to restore viability and 
sustainability of the industry. It aims to transform the Corporation in next 5 years through revenue 
optimisation from large scale sugar plantations, cost cutting initiatives, embark upon revenue generating 
investments, better marketing of Sugars of Fiji, continue to achieve improvements in mill efficiency and 
mill performance together with improved quantity and quality of cane supply and thereby generate 
adequate profits and cash flows from future operations to meet its obligations as and when they fall due. 
Appropriate plans and strategies together with detailed work plan and milestones are being implemented 
by the Directors and management to achieve the targets set out in the strategic plan.  

ii) Management is making all efforts in consultation with the project engineers and contractors to bring 
about efficiency within the upgraded mill plants and machinery at the three mills. Training of operators 
in critical areas of operations is continuing under the guidance of technical experts. It is expected with 
continuous improvement in this manner, the performance of the upgraded plants will fully integrate with 
older plant and machinery and it is expected the milling efficiencies will improve to an acceptable level of 
performance. 

iii) Technical expertise is being engaged where necessary in order to carry out financial restructure, 
operations streamlining and marketing of Sugars of Fiji brand to get better value for our sugar. 

iv) The Corporation has embarked on looking at alternative markets such as previously lucrative regional 
and Asian markets since EU sugar quota came to end in September 2017. There are number of new 
market areas being pursued now and the Corporation is confident to sell the Sugars of Fiji brand at a 
decent market price.  

v) Various non-core assets of the Corporation have been identified and are being sold.  

vi) A number of strategies and initiatives have been put in place to reduce costs through rationalization of 
manpower levels, streamlining of business operations, centralization of corporate functions and 
outsourcing of non-core activities. 
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vii) The Corporation through the Joint Venture arrangements seeks to increase the sugar volume in the future. The
Corporation is responsible for providing technical knowhow support (including land preparation, planting,
maintenance and harvesting of cane) and organizing finance for the project works.

viii) Corporation's plan to modernise and upgrade rail transportation system (rail trucks and locomotives), as it is the
cheapest mode of cane transportation to the mills.

ix) Diversifying the existing product and customer base through market sensitive pack sizes.

x) The transport division of the Corporation is being strengthened and mechanized with the acquisition of new
agricultural equipment’s such as cane harvesters, tractors, cane cartage trucks and farming implements. This
equipment will provide assistance to the farmers and FSC in a cost-effective way.

The Directors consider the application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of the financial 
statements as the Directors anticipate the Government will continue to provide necessary support and improvements will 
be achieved in cane supply and mill performance and thereby the Corporation will be able to generate adequate funds to 
meet their liabilities as and when they fall due. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 
amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might become necessary should the Corporation be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 

26. Government guarantee
The Government has provided certain guarantees to the Corporation, including the following: 

(a) In 2017, the Government approved a guarantee limited to $322 million, valid until 31 May 2022, to enable the 
Corporation to raise short-term loan finance to meet its working capital requirements.

(b) The Government has provided a guarantee of US$50.4 million and US$5.38 million for borrowings from Export Import 
Bank of India in relation to the sugar mills upgrade and modernization. As at balance date, the outstanding balance is 
US$31.41 million and US$1.27 million, respectively under this guarantee.

(c) The Government as a majority shareholder has made a commitment to support and assist the sugarcane industry given 
the importance of the sugarcane industry for the economy of Fiji.

27. Related party disclosures
(a) Ownership interests in related parties

Interests held in associate entities and joint ventures are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

(b) Directors
The following were Directors of the Corporation at any time during the financial year and up to the date of this report: 
Mr Pradeep Lal - Chairman
Mr Savendra P Dayal – Deputy Chairman (Retired in December 2022)
Ratu Wiliame Katonivere (Resigned on 21 October 2021)
Mr Arvind Singh (Retired in October 2022)
Mr Tevita Kuruvakadua (Retired in October 2022)
Mr Athil Narayan (Re-appointed)
Mr Prakash Chand
Mr Kaison Chang (Appointed on 4 May 2023)
Mr Nitya Reddy (Appointed on 4 May 2023)
Mr Paras Ram Reddy (Appointed on 4 May 2023)
Mr Maciusela N. Lumelume (Appointed on 4 May 2023)
Ratu Jone Mataove Qomate (Appointed on 31 January 2023)
Directors’ emoluments for services as Directors and other services are disclosed under Note 8.2.

(c) Transactions with related parties
All transactions with related parties are made on normal commercial terms and conditions. There were no material 
transactions (aggregate value in excess of $20,000) during the year with any related parties or entities related to 
Directors.
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2288.. RReellaatteedd  ppaarrttyy  ddiisscclloossuurreess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(d) Key management personnel remuneration 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive 
or otherwise) of that entity.  

As at 31 May 2021, eight executives (2020: five executives), (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Information and Commercial Officer, Chief Operation Officer and Chief Human Capital 
Officer) were identified as key management personnel, which increased to eight executives from 1 April 
2021 after inclusion of 3 Mill General Managers, with the greatest authority and responsibility for the 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation. 

The aggregate remuneration to the executive management group for year ended 31 May 2021 and 2020 
were:   

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Other executive management   1,304 1,308 
 

Furthermore, certain members of executive management group were provided non-cash employment 
benefits, such as vehicle, housing allowances and medical insurance cover, in aggregate benefit value of 
$101,482 for the year. 

(e) Amount due to, and receivable from related parties 

Appropriate disclosure of these amounts is contained in the respective notes to the financial statements. 

(f) Government guarantee and assistance 

i) The Government has approved guarantees to allow the Corporation to borrow in the short-term money 
market and from Export Import Bank of India for its sugar mills upgrade and modernization. Refer Note 
25 for the details of the guarantees provided.  

ii) In the prior years, the Government of Fiji provided funding to meet repayment of Government 
guaranteed loans and to fund on-going working capital requirements of the Corporation. The 
borrowings from the Government of Fiji aggregated to $173,816,930 (including deferred grant income 
on interest) as at balance date (2020: $173,816,930 (Refer Note 18(e)).   

iii) The Government has approved guarantees to allow the Corporation to seek funding from banks and 
other financial institutions. 

 

2288.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  eevveennttss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

Significant events during the year were: 

i) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

For the year ended 31 May 2021, an impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried out 
by an independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS 36) Impairment of Assets. Based on the 
independent assessment, management and the Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no 
further provision for impairment is required.  

The assessed enterprise value of the Corporation’s productive assets continues to exceed the carrying 
value of the Corporation’s core operating assets. Notwithstanding this, no reversal of accumulated 
impairment losses will be considered until the Corporation’s growth is consolidated. 
 

ii) Change in Shareholding 

During the year, the Government of Fiji acquired Fiji National Provident Fund (FNPF) and Fijian Holdings 
Ltd shares in FSC. 
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Corporation is responsible for providing technical knowhow support (including land preparation, planting,
maintenance and harvesting of cane) and organizing finance for the project works.
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cheapest mode of cane transportation to the mills.
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x) The transport division of the Corporation is being strengthened and mechanized with the acquisition of new
agricultural equipment’s such as cane harvesters, tractors, cane cartage trucks and farming implements. This
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Directors’ emoluments for services as Directors and other services are disclosed under Note 8.2.

(c) Transactions with related parties
All transactions with related parties are made on normal commercial terms and conditions. There were no material 
transactions (aggregate value in excess of $20,000) during the year with any related parties or entities related to 
Directors.
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2288.. RReellaatteedd  ppaarrttyy  ddiisscclloossuurreess  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

(d) Key management personnel remuneration 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive 
or otherwise) of that entity.  

As at 31 May 2021, eight executives (2020: five executives), (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Information and Commercial Officer, Chief Operation Officer and Chief Human Capital 
Officer) were identified as key management personnel, which increased to eight executives from 1 April 
2021 after inclusion of 3 Mill General Managers, with the greatest authority and responsibility for the 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation. 

The aggregate remuneration to the executive management group for year ended 31 May 2021 and 2020 
were:   

   22002211  22002200  

    $000 $000 

Other executive management   1,304 1,308 
 

Furthermore, certain members of executive management group were provided non-cash employment 
benefits, such as vehicle, housing allowances and medical insurance cover, in aggregate benefit value of 
$101,482 for the year. 

(e) Amount due to, and receivable from related parties 

Appropriate disclosure of these amounts is contained in the respective notes to the financial statements. 

(f) Government guarantee and assistance 

i) The Government has approved guarantees to allow the Corporation to borrow in the short-term money 
market and from Export Import Bank of India for its sugar mills upgrade and modernization. Refer Note 
25 for the details of the guarantees provided.  

ii) In the prior years, the Government of Fiji provided funding to meet repayment of Government 
guaranteed loans and to fund on-going working capital requirements of the Corporation. The 
borrowings from the Government of Fiji aggregated to $173,816,930 (including deferred grant income 
on interest) as at balance date (2020: $173,816,930 (Refer Note 18(e)).   

iii) The Government has approved guarantees to allow the Corporation to seek funding from banks and 
other financial institutions. 

 

2288.. SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  eevveennttss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

Significant events during the year were: 

i) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

For the year ended 31 May 2021, an impairment review of the assets of the Corporation was carried out 
by an independent consultant from New Zealand. The impairment assessment was undertaken in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS 36) Impairment of Assets. Based on the 
independent assessment, management and the Directors have carried out an assessment of the 
recoverable amount of the assets, trend of improvement in sugar cane quality, and assessed that no 
further provision for impairment is required.  

The assessed enterprise value of the Corporation’s productive assets continues to exceed the carrying 
value of the Corporation’s core operating assets. Notwithstanding this, no reversal of accumulated 
impairment losses will be considered until the Corporation’s growth is consolidated. 
 

ii) Change in Shareholding 

During the year, the Government of Fiji acquired Fiji National Provident Fund (FNPF) and Fijian Holdings 
Ltd shares in FSC. 
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2288..     SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  eevveennttss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd))  

iii) Czarnikow Group Limited 

During the year, the Corporation borrowed US$15 million (FJD $30.1 million) from Czarnikow Group 
Limited by way of trade finance to meet operational expenditure and grower cane payments. The loan 
will be repaid through the first and second shipments of sugar for the 2021 season (financial year 2022). 

 

iv) Impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak on the Corporation 

    During the financial year, on 19 April 2021, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government 
announced a number of measures including lockdown of certain containment areas within Viti Levu. 
Under the lockdown restrictions, all non-essential businesses were required to be closed unless the 
workplace was deemed part of a permitted industry as set out by the Government. The introduction of 
these restrictions has not had a material effect on the Corporation’s Financial Statements at 31 May 
2021. Apart from the exception above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of 
the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Corporation, the results or cash flows of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation in 
future financial years. 

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak has developed rapidly, bringing a significant health impact 
globally. Measures taken to contain the virus are already having a significant impact on global markets 
and economic activity. Fiji is also feeling the impact with business disruption and levels of activity already 
reducing in several market sectors. The Corporation has remained operational since this declaration and 
continues to engage in its principal activities. We have not seen a significant impact on our business to 
date. Directors and management are carefully considering the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the 
Corporation and assessing future operational options. The future financial impacts, however, cannot be 
reasonably estimated at this time, as they will be largely the product of matters the Corporation cannot 
control. The Directors and management believe the Corporation have sufficient financial resources 
together with arrangements with their customers and suppliers at this time to be able to successfully 
manage their business risks despite the current uncertain economic outlook due to the COVID-19 
outbreak. 
 

v) Effects of Tropical Cyclone 

 Fiji was hit by spate of natural disasters during the financial year; Tropical Cyclone Yasa in December 
2020 and Tropical Cyclone Ana and Bina in January 2021 which severely affected certain parts of Fiji. 
As a consequence, the sugarcane crop, railway infrastructure, bridges and buildings were significantly 
affected. Furthermore, the Corporation’s preparation for the 2021 crushing season was disrupted. 

 

2299.. EEvveennttss  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  ttoo  bbaallaannccee  ddaattee  

Subsequent to year-end, FCCC has approved increase in the domestic sugar price which will improve FSC’s 
share of revenue going forward. 

Apart from the exception noted above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 
financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Corporation, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation in future financial years.  

 

3300.. IInnssuurraannccee  

The Corporation has obtained insurance cover for property, plant and equipment, excluding railway 
network and various exclusions, for material damage and business interruption. The insurance cover is 
subject to various terms and conditions and insurance excess. Vehicles are insured under comprehensive 
insurance cover. 

 
3311.. AApppprroovvaall  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 18th May 
2023.
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date. Directors and management are carefully considering the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the 
Corporation and assessing future operational options. The future financial impacts, however, cannot be 
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THE FIJI SUGAR CORPORATION LIMITED

10-YEAR STATISTICAL REVIEW

Financial statistics

for year ended 31 May 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Turnover ($m) 147.7 144.9 132.8 182.1 144.9      199.8       197.3       224.0      199.0      203.6      

Profit/(Loss) before taxation ($m) (32.8) 21.9 (80.1)       (24.6) (45.0)       (53.4)       (31.7)       6.9          6.3          1.8          

EBITDA ($m) 4.4 60.7 (25.1)       0.6 (19.2)       (27.1)       (4.8)         (4.8)         5.9          1.6          

Profit/Loss after taxation & Extra-ordinary items ($m) (32.8) 21.9 (80.1)       (24.6) (45.0) (53.4) (31.7) 6.9 6.3 1.8

Total Assets ($m) 199.3 223.9 203.9      204.1      199.6 254.2 266.2 279.3 254.6 196.1

Net Assets ($m) (332.8)     (300.0)     (321.8)     (241.8)     (217.1) (172.1) (117.4) (85.7) (92.6) (98.9)

Proceeds of Sugar & Molasses ($m) 143.9 139.8 129.8      180.7      143.4 195.8 191.7 214.6 185.7 200.8

FSC's share of proceeds ($m) 42.8 41.9 38.8        54.2        43.0 58.7 56.0 62.5 55.7 60.2

Price per tonne cane ($) 85.00 85.00 85.00 85.00 82.00      76.66 81.01 88.49 81.83 65.67

Production statistics

20200 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cane Crushed (000t) 1,729      1,806       1,696 1,631      1,387      1,845       1,832       1,610      1,547      2,095      

Sugar Produced (000t) 152  169  160 180         140         222          227          179         155         167         

Molasses Produced (000t) 83  84  85 66           63           76            78            59           67           107         

Tonnes Cane/Tonnes Sugar 11.4 10.7         10.6 9.0          9.9          8.3           8.1           9.0          10.0        12.6        

Molasses % Cane 5 5             5             4             5             4              4              4             4             5             

POCS % 10  10  11 11           11           12            12            11           11           10           

Cane Purity % 79 80            81 83           82           83            82            82           82           80           

Fibre in Cane % 13  12  12 12           12           12            12            12           12           11           

Average Crushing Rate for all mills (tcph) 727     682  674 694         692         792          853          834         811         834         

Actual Crushing Time as % of Available Time 64  64  63  66 58           71            70            63           61           60           

Season 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Number of Growers 16,840    16,754    16,666    16,605    16,526    16,387    16,348    15,528    15,948    16,259    

Number of Active Growers 11,622    11,638    11,412    11,871    11,676    12,405    12,681    12,633    12,848    12,791    

Tonnes Cane per Hectare 46           48           46           43           38           47            48            42           37           49           

Average Tonnes Cane per Grower 147         143         142         137         119         148          144          127         120         164         

Number of Cane Cutters 7,651      7,650      7,700      7,771      9,173      9,582       10,341    8,973      8,109      10,285    

Output per Cutter (tonnes) 146         154         110         117         142         182          173          179         191         203         

Burnt Cane % 51 49           51           34           57           39            41            29           36           25           

Sugar exports - destinations and quantities (metric tonnes)

Season 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

UK/EU 109,246  146,000  68,600    129,828  104,736  165,260  184,414  165,557  146,656  138,222  

USA 15,611    8,411      9,034      14,570    8,329      21,163    16,254    - -          - 

KOREA - -          - -          200         220          766          - -          - 

GERMANY - -          480 - -          - -          - -          - 

CHINA - -          33,730 - -          - -          - -          - 

TOTAL 124,857  154,411  111,844  144,398  113,265  186,643  201,434  165,557  146,656  135,462  

Season

Field statistics
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